Bioelectrochemistry 141 (2021) 107871

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Bioelectrochemistry

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bioelechem

Cell death due to electroporation - A review

Tina Batista Napotnik, Tamara Polajžer, Damijan Miklavčič*

University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Tržaška cesta 25, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 10 March 2021 Received in revised form 12 May 2021 Accepted 3 June 2021 Available online 06 June 2021

Keywords: Apoptosis Cell death Cell injury Electroporation Membrane repair Necroptosis Necrosis Pyroptosis

ABSTRACT

Exposure of cells to high voltage electric pulses increases transiently membrane permeability through membrane electroporation. Electroporation can be reversible and is used in gene transfer and enhanced drug delivery but can also lead to cell death. Electroporation resulting in cell death (termed as irreversible electroporation) has been successfully used as a new non-thermal ablation method of soft tissue such as tumours or arrhythmogenic heart tissue. Even though the mechanisms of cell death can influence the outcome of electroporation-based treatments due to use of different electric pulse parameters and conditions, these are not elucidated yet. We review the mechanisms of cell death after electroporation reported in literature, cell injuries that may lead to cell death after electroporation and membrane repair mechanisms involved. The knowledge of membrane repair and cell death mechanisms after cell exposure to electric pulses, targets of electric field in cells need to be identified to optimize existing and develop of new electroporation-based techniques used in medicine, biotechnology, and food technology.

© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY licenses (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction					
	1.1. Cell injury and cell death	2				
	1.2. Modes of cell death	3				
2. Materials and methods						
	2.1. Literature search strategy and selection	3				
3.	3. Cell death and electroporation					
	3.1. Electroporation and cell injury	3				
	3.2. Membrane repair after electroporation	5				
	3.3. Types of cell death after electroporation	6				
	3.3.1. Apoptosis	6				
	3.3.2. Necrosis / accidental cell death	7				
	3.3.3. Immunogenic cell death and immune response	9				
4.	Conclusions	11				
	CRediT authorship contribution statement	11				
	Declaration of Competing Interest	12				
	Acknowledgments and funding	12				
	References	12				

Corresponding author.
 E-mail address: damijan.miklavcic@fe.uni-lj.si (D. Miklavčič).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2021.107871

1567-5394/© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V.

This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).







1. Introduction

Electroporation is a phenomenon that occurs when cells are exposed to electric field of sufficient amplitude: their plasma membrane permeability becomes increased [1]. On one hand, in reversible electroporation, the increased permeability is only temporary, after a certain time cells repair their plasma membrane and re-establish homeostasis. Reversible electroporation is used in biotechnology and medicine for delivery of otherwise impermeant molecules to cells such as chemotherapeutics in electrochemotherapy (ECT) [2] or nucleic acids in gene electrotransfer (GET) [3]. On the other hand, in irreversible electroporation (usually with the use of higher number of electric pulses and of higher amplitude), the cells are damaged beyond repair and they die [4]. Irreversible electroporation is already used as a focal ablative technique for treating tumours, especially those unsuitable for surgery or thermal ablation because of their specific anatomic location [4]. Irreversible electroporation (called also as pulsed field ablation) is resurging as efficient, safe and fast ablation modality [5]. This technology is expected to represent a major advance in the field of treating heart arrhythmias [6]. The mechanisms of cell death also due to expanding interest in cardiac ablation are therefore of significant interest.

Irreversible electroporation leads to cell death of different types, namely necrosis, apoptosis, and also types of immunogenic cell death such as necroptosis and pyroptosis that have gained attention in recent years. It is important to know cell death pathways and how electric pulses of different parameters influence them in order to control and optimize therapeutic protocols such as tumour ablation and pulsed field ablation in heart. Different types of cell death have also different systemic responses in terms of abscopal effects and long-term immune response which is _especially important in oncology. Moreover, in gene electrotransfer, EP itself can also stimulate immune response [7]. Therefore, there is a need for better understanding of triggering cell death and immune response by electroporation especially considering the expanding interest in applying this technology clinically. And the last but not least, with the increasing knowledge of specific repair and cell death mechanisms after electric field exposure, direct and indirect targets of electric field in cells can be identified which can lead to a development of new electroporation-based techniques used in medicine, biotechnology, and food technology [8].

1.1. Cell injury and cell death

Cells constantly adapt to physiological demands to maintain their viability and homeostasis. The term cell injury is used to describe the situation when the stimulus/insult, external or internal, is excessive or when the cell is no longer capable to adapt without suffering some form of damage. Cell injury can be reparable/reversible (non-lethal damage which can generally be corrected) or irreversible (lethal damage) resulting in cell death. The transition between reversible and irreversible damage, commonly referred to as the "point of no return" is of major interest and importance for devising therapeutic strategies to prevent or trigger cell death after therapeutic intervention [9,10].

The main mechanisms of cell injury are: 1) membrane damage, 2) DNA and protein damage, 3) increase of ROS, 4) entry of Ca^{2+} , 5) mitochondrial damage, and 6) ATP depletion. They are schematically depicted in Fig. 1. We can observe the complexity of cell injury biochemical mechanisms. They are interconnected and overlapping, sometimes one injurious agent (insult) can trigger multiple pathways, therefore it is not always possible to determine a specific target or prevention mode of injury of a particular insult [9–12].



Fig. 1. Mechanisms of cell injury (derived from [9,10,12]). Created with BioRender.com.

1.2. Modes of cell death

When a cell is injured beyond repair, it dies. Historically, cell death was classified into three forms, with respect to morphological changes: type I: apoptosis (programmed cell death, cell shrinkage, caspase activation, DNA condensation, fragmentation into apoptotic bodies, absence of immune response), type II: autophagy (massive vacuolization of the cytoplasm), and type III: necrosis (accidental cell death, swelling, plasmalemmal blebs and rupture, cell lysis, immune response) [13]. This classification is still widely used, however, over the past decade new definitions of cell death emerged based on morphological, enzymological (involvement of nucleases and caspases), functional (programmed/regulated or accidental) and immunological characteristics (immunogenic or non-immunogenic) [14]. A Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death formulated guidelines for the definition and interpretation of cell death from morphological, biochemical, and functional perspectives [11]. With extensive study of cell death mechanisms, several new pathways of immunogenic cell death - a programmed/regulated cell death that can exhibit necrotic or apoptotic morphology and elicit immune response - were identified, e.g. necroptosis, ferroptosis, pyroptosis, and others [11–15].

Damaged, dying or dead cells resulting from trauma, ischemia, cancer, and other settings of tissue damage in the absence of pathogenic infection communicate a state of danger to the organism by releasing damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), i.e. endogenic danger molecules. DAMPs activate the immune system by interacting with pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on cells of innate immune system (the same PRRs that interact also with pathogen-associated molecular patterns PAMPs) and thereby trigger non-infectious inflammation and tissue repair [16-18]. DAMP molecules are passively or actively released from cytoplasm, nucleus or other cellular compartments into extracellular space (adenosine triphosphate ATP, chromatin-binding protein high mobility group B1 HMGB1, DNA etc.) or become exposed on the cell surface (calreticulin, heat shock proteins) [13,19]. DAMPs interact with PRRs (such as receptor for advanced glycation end products RAGE. Toll-like receptors TLRs. NOD-like receptors NLRs etc.) on the surface of immune cells (dendritic cells, macrophages, T cells and neutrophils) and trigger innate and adaptive immune responses via various pathways (NF-κB etc.) [17–19]. A selective interception of immunogenic cell death pathways can be a promising new tool for diagnosis, prevention and treatment of human diseases in which cell loss must be avoided (inflammatory diseases) or amplified (cancer) [13,19–22].

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Literature search strategy and selection

For the purpose of our review of electroporation-related cell death, a semi-systematic search through Pub Med database (The National Institutes of Health) was performed by employing keywords "Electroporation cell death apoptosis", "Electroporation cell death necroptosis", "Electroporation cell death necroptosis", "Electroporation cell death pyroptotic", "Electroporation nanosecond apoptosis", "Electroporation nanosecond necrosis", "Electroporation calcium cell death", and "Electroporation immune". Besides that, papers from previous reviews and publications [23–25] were included to the list of papers analysed. Among them, 113 papers related to cell injury and cell death after EP with electric pulses of different parameters (ns-ms range of square monopolar or bipolar pulses) without addition of any chemical compounds (chemotherapeutics, Ca²⁺ ions, DNA) were analysed for cell injury (Tables 1 and 2).

3. Cell death and electroporation

3.1. Electroporation and cell injury

Electroporation (EP) can be considered as a membrane damage (structural and dynamical reorganization of the plasma membrane) with cell recovery as an active cellular process, which involves cellular machinery [1,26]. Membrane pore formation by itself is an injury, moreover, EP causes also lipid peroxidation [27,28] and damages membrane embedded proteins [29–31]. Since many pathways of cell injury and cell death overlap, the main reason for cell death after electroporation is still unspecified. Nevertheless, some information can be gathered from the literature. Unfortunately, it is not possible to infer if the cell death following EP is a result of multiple cell injuries or a single specific pathway following a deleterious effect acting on a specific target, or if various pathways are initiated by different electric pulses used.

An injury in plasma membrane allows Ca^{2+} ions to enter the cell from extracellular space, disrupting the intracellular calcium homeostasis [32,33]. Since Ca^{2+} is a universal carrier of biological information [34], EP can trigger numerous pathways of cell signalling including stress or cell death pathways. Pore formation causes osmotic imbalance and cell swelling which lead to necrosis and this mechanism may be calcium-dependent [35–38]. The absence of extracellular Ca^{2+} prevents cells from dying from apoptosis via endoplasmic reticulum (ER) pathway [39] or commits cells more to apoptosis than to necrosis [37]. The increase of internal Ca^{2+} can be further amplified with store-operated (capacitive) Ca^{2+} entry [40,41] or especially, Ca-induced Ca^{2+} release from internal stores [42,43].

A massive influx of Ca^{2+} after EP causes depletion of intracellular ATP due to the activation of Ca-ATPases and inhibition of ATP production in mitochondria and is linked to cell death (mostly necrosis) in calcium electroporation (Ca EP) [32,33,44–49]. Moreover, ATP and other energetically rich molecules can leak through permeabilized plasma membrane from the cell [25,50–52]. In fact, ATP leak was even one of the first assays to detect cell membrane permeabilization [53]. Also to be noted, ATP depletion switches cell death from apoptosis to necrosis [54].

Electric pulses induce production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and oxidative damage of unsaturated lipids that are associated to cell membrane permeability, membrane resealing time, and cell damage [1,26,27,55,56] and may therefore contribute to increased permeability post-pulse [28]. Electric pulses can initiate ROS production inside the cell [57–59], mostly in mitochondria, that can damage cell molecules, trigger oxidative stress, and lead to cell death by apoptosis, necrosis, necroptosis, or pyroptosis, which appears to depend on cell type and pulse parameters [12,58,60].

Mitochondrial damage by electroporation is intricate due to complex structure and function of this cellular organelle. The effects of electric pulses on mitochondria were mainly studied using electric pulses of nanosecond duration. In contrast to conventional electroporation using µs and ms pulses it was first believed that nanosecond pulse electroporation (nsEP) can create small pores only in membranes of cell organelles like mitochondria, with negligible impact on plasma membrane [61]. Moreover, it was discovered that electroporation with nsEP induce apoptosis where mitochondria play a major role [62,63]. It was shown that nsEP cause loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) that is crucial for mitochondrial activity [35,64-70]. However, it is still not known if this is a direct or indirect (apoptosis-related) effect of nsEP. Due to Ca²⁺-dependency of MMP dissipation it was suggested that this was not due to electroporation of the inner mitochondrial membrane [65,71]. How-

Table 1

Published papers on cell death, reporting on cell injury *in vitro*. Most commonly used electric pulse parameters (number, duration and voltage to distance ratio) for each EP-based treatment are stated in column headers.

Cell injury	ns pulses (nsEP) (mostly 10–100 pulses of 10–300 ns, 20– 150 kV/cm)	µs pulses (IRE) (mostly 20-200 pulses of 70-100 µs, 1000-2000 V/cm)	ms pulses (mostly single pulses of 1– 20 ms, 1000–2000 V/cm)	Bipolar (H-FIRE) (mostly 50–200 bursts containing 25– 300 pulses of 1–2 μs, 500–4000 V/cm)
Membrane damage	Yes [35-38,40,62,63,65,67,69-71,71,81,104- 119]	Yes [25,53,80,82,111,122–126]	Yes [62]	Yes [123]
	No [63 120 121]			No [122]
ATP depletion	Yes [51,127,128]	Yes [25,50,52,53,129]	Yes [55]	Yes [58]
Elevation of Ca ²⁺	Yes [35,37– 40.65.67.69.104.105.108.109.113.117.130]			
Mitochondrial damage	Yes [35,62,65,67–71,71,79,91,112,117]			
	No [39,131]			
Increase of ROS	No [67,69]		Yes [55]	Yes [58]
DNA damage	Yes Indirect [68,71,79,81,91,132-134]	Yes Indirect [80,82]	Yes Indirect [90]	
	Direct [76,77,106]			
Protein	Direct/indirect not clear [109] Yes [71 103]			
Gaillage	[/1,105]			

Table 2

Published papers on cell death, reporting on cell injury *in vivo*. Most commonly used electric pulse parameters (number, duration and voltage to distance ratio) for each EP-based treatment are stated in column headers.

Cell injury	ns pulses (nsEP) (mostly 10–100 pulses of 10– 300 ns, 20–150 kV/cm)	µs pulses (IRE) (mostly 20–200 pulses of 70– 100 µs, 1000–2000 V/cm)	ms pulses (mostly single pulses of 1– 20 ms, 1000–2000 V/cm)	Bipolar (H-FIRE) (mostly 50–200 bursts containing 25–300 pulses of 1–2 μs, 500–4000 V/cm)
Membrane		Yes	Yes	Yes
damage		[78,83,89,135–145]	[146]	[136]
ATP depletion				
Elevation of Ca ²⁺				
Mitochondrial	Yes	Yes		
damage	[91]	[142–145]		
Increase of ROS				
DNA damage	Yes	Yes	Yes	
	Indirect	Indirect	Indirect	
	[63,91,93,105]	[73,78,83–89,141,142,144,147– 149]	[92]	
Protein				No
damage				[58]

ever, the involvement of the most likely candidate for the loss of MMP, mitochondria permeability transition pore (mPTP) complex is still under debate [71]. Nevertheless, it is clear that Ca²⁺, ATP, and ROS all influence mitochondrial physiology. Moreover, they exist in an interdependent network, with each having the ability to affect the others. It is therefore difficult to determine which effect is the cause and which is the consequence of a pathological stimulus [72].

Electric pulses can also cause DNA damage, however, it is not clear [63,73] if the effect is direct [74–77] or indirect as a consequence of apoptotic cell death [78–93].

A direct protein damage after EP was not yet extensively studied. MD and other simulations revealed that electric field exposure may result in direct detrimental effects on structure (unfolding, modifying of H-bonding, conformational changes, and/or disruption of secondary structures such as α -helix or β -sheet) of proteins, e.g. myoglobin [94,95], tubulin [96], kinesin [97], soybean hydrophobic protein [98] or small peptide V3-loop [99], and even ion channels that exhibit pores in voltage-sensor domains after electric field exposure [31]. In experiments with purified proteins exposed to electric fields, Raman spectroscopy, dynamic light scattering and atomic force microscopy imaging, or X-ray crystallography were used to demonstrate that the intense electric fields can affect protein conformation and structure [100–102]. It thus seems that electric pulses may cause direct protein damage in biological systems [29,30,71,103].

Published papers on cell death, reporting cell injury *in vitro* and *in vivo* are listed in Tables 1 and 2. An empty cell of the table means that there was no published data on the subject found in literature search.

As evident from Tables 1 and 2, electric pulses have detrimental effects on many cellular structures and functions, directly or indirectly through different pathways of cell functions and encompass all of the mechanisms of cell injury depicted in Fig. 1. When the injuries are severe and beyond repair, cells undergo one of several types of cell death. Therefore, different therapeutic strategies have evolved over the past few decades to ablate tissues such as irreversible electroporation (IRE) that use microsecond (mostly 20-200 pulses of 70-100 µs, 1000-2000 V/cm voltage to distance ratio) or ms (mostly single pulses of 1-20 ms, 1000-2000 V/cm) electric pulses [4], high-frequency irreversible electroporation (H-FIRE) that uses bursts of bipolar microsecond electric pulses (mostly 50-200 bursts containing 25-300 pulses of 1-2 µs, 500-4000 V/cm) [58], pulsed field ablation to treat cardiac arrhythmias with a large range of pulse parameters combinations [150], nanosecond pulsed electric field (nsEP) ablation (mostly 10-100 pulses of 10-300 ns, 20-150 kV/cm) [109], as well as electrochemotherapy (ECT) that combines electric pulses of lower electric field strength with cytotoxic chemotherapeutic drugs [2] and calcium electroporation (Ca EP) that combine electric pulses (mostly 8 pulses of 100 μ s, 1000 V/cm) with high doses of calcium [32] to treat cancer.

3.2. Membrane repair after electroporation

Electroporation results in an injury of plasma membrane (and also internal membranes such as in the case of nsEP) and most of detrimental effects on cells that can trigger cell death (such as Ca²⁺ influx, ATP depletion, ROS increase and mitochondrial damage) can be considered a consequence of membrane damage [151]. Therefore it is of utmost importance that cell restores its plasma membrane integrity quickly after injury to maintain cell homeostasis that depends on plasma membrane selective permeability [152].

In general, only tiny membrane injuries (lipid pores of nm range) may reseal spontaneously, for injuries larger than a few nm different active mechanisms for membrane repair have evolved in eucaryotic cells [151,153,154]. Special signalling mechanisms help cells to identify the nature, magnitude (size and number of wounds) and location of the plasma membrane injury and coordinate the appropriate repair responses [151,154]. Membrane repair response occurs in seconds to minutes (mostly within 30 s after membrane injury) therefore, all the components of membrane repair mechanisms must be ready to be activated without *de novo* protein synthesis [151,152]. Ca²⁺ influx acts as a key trigger for plasma membrane repair: membrane injury results in localized and transient increases of cytosolic free Ca²⁺ concentration which trigger repair mechanisms at the site of the injury [154].

Membrane repair mechanisms are an area of active research and are reviewed in several papers [151-157]. All of membrane repair mechanisms are Ca²⁺ dependent [155]. Cells employ multiple mechanisms simultaneously for efficient membrane repair [151]. Large wounds (several μm in diameter) are repaired by patching: cytoplasmic vesicles fuse together and form a patch to fill the wound [153,154,157]. Small or medium size holes (µm to few µm scale) are repaired by clogging with annexins and other proteins (e.g. dysferlin), followed by membrane shedding (pinching out) [154]. Small wounds (smaller than 100 nm) are repaired by two mechanisms: exocytosis followed by endocytosis and membrane shedding via ESCRT (Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport) proteins [154]. In exocytosis, lysosomes migrate immediately after Ca²⁺ influx towards the injured site and fuse with plasma membrane with a help of proteins involved in membrane repair (e.g. SNARE proteins, synaptotagmins, calpains, dysferlin) [151,153,155,156,158]. Exocytosis and patching also reduce membrane tension that appear in membrane injury and allow faster spontaneous resealing of small lipid pores [153,157]. Exocytosis is however not sufficient to eliminate persistent wounds such as pore-forming proteins. Therefore, the release of lysosome content into extracellular space triggers massive endocytosis [155]. Lysosomal enzyme acidic sphingomyelinase initiates production of ceramide domains in plasma membrane near wounded site and ceramide-dependent endocytosis (through caveolar vesicles) that internalizes and later degrades the lesions/poreforming toxins [152,154,155].

Following exposure of cells to electric pulses, the aqueous pores formed in plasma membrane (or rather increased membrane permeability) persist for several minutes or, if incubated in low temperatures, e.g. 4 °C, even hours before they reseal [1,159–161]. Closing of pores and resealing of the membrane - re-establishing its full barrier function consists of several stages: a rapid stage that lasts only microseconds after the pulse with a rapid decrease in pore size, and several slower stages that can last minutes after the pulse with slow decrease in pore size and number of pores which lead to gradual reseal [161–166]. Therefore, the resealing times obtained experimentally can be of various duration, depending on the detection method, e.g. membrane conductance relaxation (50 ms - 2 s) [162,167-169] and restoration of barrier function to ions or molecules (120 ms - 20 h) [159.161.170-173]. Moreover, the pore closure time in molecular dynamics (MD) simulations is about nine orders of magnitude shorter than typical experimentally determined membrane resealing times [1] which suggests that the pores in cell membranes are more complex (e.g. involving both membrane lipids and proteins) than those in simple bilayers in MD [31,174] or that electropermeabilization of cell membranes may involve other mechanisms than electroporation such as lipid peroxidation [1]. Considerable efforts have been made in attempt to describe resealing theoretically [166,175,176].

Depending on exposure conditions, electric pulses produce heterogeneous populations of membrane pores, with sizes ranging from 1 to 100 nm [177]. Small, nanometer scale pores that occur in lipid bilayer after EP may reseal spontaneously [153,178]. However, the resealing of EP pores is mostly an active process that requires extracellular calcium: plasma membrane integrity after EP in calcium-depleted medium requires much longer time to reestablish than in medium containing calcium ions [179-183]. The resealing is affected by pulse parameters (higher the pulse amplitude and number, longer the resealing time) [53,55,172,184], temperature [159,161], calcium concentration in extracellular medium [179], generation of reactive oxygen species [55] and medium composition (e.g. sucrose concentration, Mg^{2+}) [55,185]. Although Ca²⁺ ions are required for active repair mechanisms they also interact with lipids and may therefore have a direct effect on the dynamics of pore formation, size and resealing [182].

In a simple (spontaneous) lipid pore closure model, the fate of a pore lies in the ratio between two opposing dynamic forces: contractile line tension and expansive membrane surface tension. Electropore line tension energy is proportional to the pore radius, therefore, the resulting total energy for a given pore (and fate: closure or expansion) is strongly dependent on the pore size [157,186–188]. The cytoskeleton, especially the actin cortex under the plasma membrane has an important effect on the stability and resealing of pores [187]. Anchoring of the actin cortex to the plasma membrane alters electropore dynamics in a manner that allows for electropore stability – opposing spontaneous closure and allowing molecule transport after pulse cessation [153,189] but also opposing pore expansion and the pores may therefore be more manageable by the cell's active wound healing mechanisms [187,189,190].

It was shown that the membrane repair kinetics after EP follows an exponential dynamics that is interrupted by abrupt recovery steps consistent with a membrane patch model [191]. The authors also suggested two other active cellular mechanisms of repair: i) a removal of leaky patches of membranes by endocytosis and ii) a calcium-induced vesicle exocytosis that reduces the plasma membrane tension and thereby enables pore repair by constriction and bilayer resealing [191]. Indeed, Huynh et al. detected a lysosomalassociated membrane protein 1 (Lamp-1) on the cell surface indicating a lysosomal exocytosis in response to EP wounding [192,193] that was correlated to a degree of damage induced by different pulse parameters [192]. Moreover, a CHMP4B subunit of ESCRT-III complex, involved in repair of small membrane wounds (less than 100 nm) mainly by plasma membrane shedding [194] was localized not only at plasma membrane after EP but also at nuclear envelope after exposure to electric pulses that affect both plasma membrane and nuclear envelope [195]. The calcium binding protein ALG-2 may also contribute to membrane repair and cell survival after EP [196]. Membrane recovery and cell survival in slightly acidic medium were better than in physiological one which can be attributed to more efficient membrane repair mechanisms (possibly exocytosis) in acidic environment [197]. A less efficient membrane repair system in cancer cells may account for higher susceptibility to EP compared to normal cells [198].

Experiments with double wounding by EP [180] revealed similar results as those with double wounding by mechanical puncture [199]: the resealing after the second wounding was faster than after the first one. Authors suggested that the membrane wound was repaired by exocytosis and the second wound resealed faster due to calcium-influx-mediated activation of Golgi apparatus (GA) and its formation of new vesicles. The increasing delay (1, 2, and 3 min delay) between two pulse trains led to a decreased molecular transport [180]. In a study with similar results (the delivery of target molecules decreased with increasing delay time between pulses; high repetition rate is more efficient for permeabilization, i.e. leading to higher permeabilization than low repetition rate) the authors suggest that the second pulse re-porates the weakened cell membrane (already containing nano-sized pores or defects) [163]. Higher EP efficiency of higher pulse repetition rate is usually attributed to the temporal summation of brief subthreshold effects/lesions which can recover without consequences if the interval between pulses is sufficiently long [200]. However, some studies revealed that low pulse repetition rates are more efficient for permeabilization than high repetition rates, e.g. the study on both microsecond and nanosecond electric pulse duration [201]: applying a pulse on a permeabilized cell membrane is likely to be less effective since the existing conducting structures prevent the formation of equally high transmembrane potential [200-202]. The authors speculate that in this case, the type of damage induced by both μ s and ns pulses is similar and that the resealing of such damage happens through identical pathways [201]. However, for the similar damage, much higher number and amplitude of ns pulses compared to µs pulses was applied. Nevertheless, the effect of pulse repetition rate is still puzzling (and leading to different results, for review see the Introduction of Pakhomova et al.

[200]) and suggests complex permeabilization and resealing processes [163,201].

Since the application of single nanosecond electric pulses (nsEP) cause smaller pores (with a diameter ≤ 2 nm) than longer, microor millisecond electric pulses or multiple nsEP [177,203] it was always a question whether repair mechanisms that heal nsEP disruptions differ from those that restore the membrane after longer pulses (the size of pores/membrane damage affects the mode of membrane repair [153]). Lysosomes are known to contribute to membrane repair by exocytosis [158]. However, it was shown that nsEP in the presence of extracellular calcium cause inhibition of intracellular migration of lysosomes which can be a result of calcium-induced disruption of the microtubules [203,204]. Therefore, the repair mechanisms for restoring the membrane after nsEP exposure remain unknown.

3.3. Types of cell death after electroporation

Electroporation can trigger different types of cell death in treated tissues, namely apoptosis, necrosis, necroptosis, and pyroptosis. EP-based treatments lead to typical types of cell death (such as apoptosis after IRE or nsEP, necrosis after Ca EP) however, each treatment can result in many different types of cell death. The type of cell death triggered by EP depends on pulse parameters, cell and tissue type, treating conditions and other factors. In vivo EP-treated cells undergo a spectrum of different cell death types depending on the location in different treatment zones where they encounter specific electric field parameters. Cells close to electrodes are exposed to electric fields with the highest amplitudes and therefore die of necrosis or even coagulative necrosis with denatured proteins as a consequence of thermal damage, whereas in other treated areas cells die of other modes of cell death such as apoptosis [83,89,138]. Cells at the margins of treated area undergo reversible EP and eventually survive. However, by adding adjuvant molecules and/or chemotherapeutics that are taken up by reversibly electroporated cells at treatment margins the efficacy of tumour treatment by irreversible electroporation can be further increased (a combination of IRE and electrochemotherapy) [205– 207]. Different tissues may also respond to electric fields of the same parameters with different types of cell death [140]. In the following sections different types of cell death that occur after different electroporation treatments will be presented and discussed.

3.3.1. Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a programmed, regulated, non-inflammatory cell death which is generally characterized by distinct morphological characteristics and energy-dependent biochemical mechanisms [208]. According to existing literature it is a type of cell death most commonly occurring in electroporation-based ablations such as irreversible electroporation (IRE) [83,85–89,125,135,138,141,142, 144,147,148,209,210], high-frequency irreversible electroporation (H-FIRE) [58,123,136,211,212], electrochemotherapy (ECT) [205,207,213–215], electroporation combined with electrolysis [216] and nsEP ablation [63,91,93,120]. Apoptosis was confirmed also in numerous *in vitro* studies using ms [217], μ s (IRE, H-FIRE) [80,82,123,125,126,218] and ns pulses [39,62,65,66,69,79,111, 114,120,130,131].

Cells that undergo apoptosis after IRE with μ s pulses exhibit typical morphology: nuclear condensation and fragmentation, cell shrinkage and fragmentation to apoptotic bodies [83,141,148,207]. Apoptosis in IRE treated cells and tissues was also detected by activation of executioner caspases (proteases that play essential roles in apoptosis, coordinating the destruction of cellular structures), namely caspases -3 and -7 [88,125,126,135,138,139,141], and by DNA fragmentation, typical for apoptosis, detected by Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling (TUNEL)

assay [73,83,85–89,141,142,144,147,148]. A clinical study of IRE in patients with colorectal liver metastases revealed that IRE induces apoptotic cell death in colorectal liver metastases and the ablation zone shows a sharp demarcation between avital and vital tissue [143]. However, apoptosis does not occur in all regions of tissue treated with IRE: at regions close to the electrodes where electric fields reach high amplitudes and even thermal damage cells die from necrosis [83,89,138]. The occurrence of apoptosis and necrosis *in vivo* is time-dependent, but the results are sometimes difficult to discern what comes first [125,135,144,148]. Sometimes, apoptosis is absent from IRE treated tissues; cells undergo other cell death pathways such as necrosis, pyroptosis, and necroptosis [73,137,219–223].

H-FIRE affects cells and tissues in a similar way as IRE (apoptosis, necrosis) [58,123,136,210–212], although with some differences in caspase-dependency in some cells [123]. H-FIRE seem to have more effect on intracellular structures, e.g. nuclei, and less on plasma membrane than IRE [122]. H-FIRE can also induce pyroptosis [58].

Apoptosis was extensively studied in treatments in vitro and in vivo with nsEP since first confirmed [63]. The fact that cells undergo cell death without the use of chemical compounds (chemotherapeutics) led to nsEP-based treatment of tumours [224]. Apart from morphology, apoptosis due to nsEP exposure was detected by activation of executioner caspases -3 and -7[62,63,66,69,79,91,107,112,114,119,120,225,226], and DNA fragmentation [62,63,79,91,120,227]. Apoptosis detection with phosphatidylserine externalization assay using Annexin-V must be implemented and results interpreted with caution since it can occur due to pore formation in EP, not related to apoptosis [228,229]. Therefore, the assay has to be employed with a sufficient delay after nsEP application when the pores are resealed [230]. Apoptosis by nsEP is executed via different pathways (Fig. 2). Loss of mitochondrial membrane potential [65,68-70], cytochrome c release [62,65,69,79,91,112], caspase-9 activation [65,69,91,112,226], upregulation of pro-apoptotic factors (BAX, BAK, BAD) and downregulation of anti-apoptotic factors (Bcl-2, Bcl-xL. Mcl-1) [79,91,93,109] confirmed the involvement of mitochondria, mostly through intrinsic apoptosis pathway, however, in some studies, BID cleavage also points to the activation of type II extrinsic-like apoptosis [69]. In some cells (HCT, B16F10, E4 SCC, Jurkat), apoptosis progresses also through type I extrinsiclike pathway without or with little involvement of mitochondria [67,69,79] and with caspase-8 activation and modulation of extrinsic apoptotic regulators which influence sensitivity to nsEP [131]. This means that nsEP have a prominent effect also on plasma membrane structures, too, not only on cell interior. Different apoptotic pathways are triggered in different cells [65], sometimes even in the same cells [69]. Moreover, different conditions and severity of injury in nsEP exposure lead to different forms of cell death: necrosis following extensive swelling as a predominant cell death mode in U-937 human monocyte cell line can be switched to apoptosis if swelling is prevented by adding sucrose to electroporation medium [37,38]. Extracellular Ca²⁺ also influence the mode of cell death in nsEP in a similar way as in Ca EP [130]. The balance between apoptosis and necrosis in cells exposed to nsEP may be influenced by the ability to repair the damage (e.g. ion balance, ATP supply) or the level of intracellular damage (higher in nsEP than us pulses) [81]. Nevertheless, similarly to longer (us and ms) pulses, more cells undergo necrosis when they are exposed to pulses of higher amplitude or pulse number, resulting in more severe damage [93,114].

The most intriguing question in understanding nsEP cell death is what is the primary target of nsEP that triggers the cascade of the programmed cell death. Intrinsic apoptosis is initiated by a variety of microenvironmental perturbations including growth factor withdrawal, DNA damage, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, reactive oxygen species (ROS) overload, replication stress, microtubular alterations or mitotic defects [11]. As known, nsEP were also reported to cause direct DNA damage and mitotic defects [76,77,231]. Apoptosis is linked to DNA damage via several pathways [232] that were not yet fully studied in the case of nsEP. One possibility is via PLK-1 protein and centrosome-mediated apoptosis [77], PUMA and NOXA were not activated [91,112]. Exposure of cells to nsEP cause ER stress that could be related to ROS formation, permeabilization of the ER, or Ca²⁺ influx, and can further trigger mitochondria-mediated intrinsic apoptosis via PERK and IRE1 [39,128]. ROS formation that occur after nsEP [57] could trigger both intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis via several cellular targets including those in mitochondria, DNA, ER and plasma membrane [60].

In electrochemotherapy (ECT), i.e. electroporation combined with chemotherapeutic drug, pulses (typically of 100 us duration) with lower electric field strength and lower number of pulses are used to allow tumour cells to reseal and survive, therefore, cells predominantly die due to the cytotoxic action of chemotherapeutic drugs delivered into cells with EP [233]. With the use of electric pulses that cause increased permeability, intracellular drug accumulation is increased and it results in increased drug cytotoxicity [234]. The two drugs that have been used most often in ECT are bleomycin, and cisplatin which both target DNA [233]. Bleomycin is a cytotoxic antibiotic that generates DNA double-strand breaks (DSB) and DNA single-strand breaks (SSB) [214]. Apoptosis, along with mitotic cell death, is a predominant mode of cell death after ECT [205,207,214,215,235,236], however, other forms of cell death (necrosis, necroptosis, immunogenic cell death) were also identified [50,235,237]. It seems that the internal concentration (which is related to external concentration and electric pulse parameters) and, consequently, the amount of DSB and SSB and the ratio determine the mode of cell between them death [214,215,236,238]. SSB are responsible for the induction of apoptosis which occurs at high amounts of SSB and low to moderate amounts of DSB. At moderate level of DSB and low SSB, cells undergo mitotic cell death, a caspase-dependent programmed cell death which results from the abnormal passage through mitosis of cells containing unrepaired DNA breaks, similar to cell death caused by radiation [214,238,239]. However, at high amounts of DSB (at high doses of bleomycin), irrespective of SSB amount, cells die of a rapid apoptosis-like cell death (here termed as "pseudoapoptosis") [214,215]. "Pseudoapoptosis" in this case is a very fast (a few minutes) cell death process that displays the morphological and biochemical characteristics of apoptosis, however it seems that it does not require induction of cell endonucleases involved in typical apoptosis: it is rather caused by direct effect of bleomycin than via cell endonucleases and can therefore proceed faster than regular apoptosis. The hypothesis is that bleomycin at high concentrations acts directly as an endonuclease and can be considered as an apoptosis-mimetic drug [215].

Apart from apoptosis, there are other forms of regulated cell death such as necroptosis and pyroptosis that also occur after cell exposure to electric field. However, they both elicit immune response *in vivo*, therefore, they will be discussed in Section 3.3.3: Immunogenic cell death and immune response.

3.3.2. Necrosis / accidental cell death

Accidental cell death is a rapid, uncontrollable cell death caused by extreme conditions (heat, radiation, trauma, anoxia, infection) that lead to loss in cell homeostasis and is characterized by the rupture of the cell membrane. It was previously referred to necrosis which exhibits a typical necrotic morphology: cellular changes include cell swelling (oncosis) and blebbing, swelling of mitochondria, ER and nuclear envelope dilatations, random DNA



Fig. 2. Pathways of apoptosis after nanosecond pulse electroporation (nsEP). Mostly, apoptosis is executed via intrinsic pathway (1) where mitochondria play a major role. Intrinsic pathway is triggered by internal Ca^{2+} elevation, metabolic stress, ER stress, possible permeabilization of ER and mitochondrial membranes, DNA damage and ROS production that initiate upregulation of pro-apoptotic factors and downregulation of anti-apoptotic factors, dissipation of mitochondrial membrane potential, mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP), cytochrome c release, apoptosome formation, caspase-9 activation and subsequent activation of executioner caspases -3 and -7 which leads to apoptotic cell death. In some cells, apoptosis can progress via extrinsic pathway (2) where nsEP trigger aggregation of the Fas receptor, activation of caspase-8 and subsequent activation of executioner caspases -3 and -7 without (Type I) or with (Type II) amplification through mitochondrial pathway. Derived from [65,69,131]. Created with BioRender.com.

degradation, and finally, membrane rupture followed by spilling cell contents into its surrounding [12,240,241]. Contrary to apoptosis, necrosis was considered to be accidental, unprogrammed or unregulated, however, there are some molecular events and patterns (e.g. RIP1 and PARP activation) that typically occur during necrosis, therefore it is at least in part regulated [240-242]. Moreover, according to Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death new types of regulated cell death that also exhibit necrotic morphotype have been identified such as necroptosis and ferroptosis. Therefore, cell death types that exhibit necrotic morphotype can be accidental or regulated [11]. Most papers reporting necrosis as the form of cell death after EP were however published before the last recommendations of Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death that categorize types of cell death to accidental and regulated [11]. In most of the EP studies, researchers have identified necrosis morphologically. What the authors refer to as "necrosis" is probably, in most cases, what the Committee defines as accidental cell death however, it is impossible to distinguish the precise type of cell death that occurred after EP exposure. Hence, we refer here to necrosis as to all cell death types with necrotic morphology.

Cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying necrotic morphotype cell death are: ATP depletion, mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, protein kinase signalling, PARP activation, and plasma membrane injury [12,241]. ATP depletion is crucial for necrosis induction: in case of mitochondrial dysfunction indicative for both apoptosis and necrosis, a rapid loss of ATP can switch cell's fate from energy-dependent apoptosis to energy-independent necrosis [241,243]. The spillage of the contents of necrotic cells

into the surrounding tissue activates inflammatory signalling pathways, which recruit diverse types of immune cells (neutrophils, macrophages, dendritic cells) involved in the immune response [242]. This renders necrosis also an immunogenic cell death. The cell death triggering of immune response by releasing danger signals (DAMP molecules, such as HMGB1, Heat shock proteins, calreticulin, and mRNA) will be discussed in Section 3.3.3: Immunogenic cell death and immune response.

Exposure to electric pulses caused necrosis in *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies using IRE [126,137,140,142,144,147,209,210,218–223] and H-FIRE pulses [58,136,210,212,244], Ca EP [33,44–49], ECT [235,245] and nsEP [37,38,70,81,93,114,130,134,246,247]. Necrosis was also determined as a mode of cell death after cardiac ablation with IRE for treating heart arrhythmias (for atrial fibrillations, *in vivo* experimental procedure in pigs) [248].

In Ca EP, electric pulses (mostly 100 μ s long, but also with nsEP [249] and H-FIRE pulses [250]) are delivered with high concentrations of Ca²⁺ *in vitro* or *in vivo* (IC₅₀ ranging from 0.4 to 5.0 mM Ca²⁺ concentration *in vitro*, and 100–500 mM Ca²⁺ with 20–80% tumour volume *in vivo*) [32]. A high Ca²⁺ uptake leads to cell death, mostly necrosis [33,44–49], however, a few studies also reported apoptosis [49,251,252] and necroptosis [250]. *In vitro*, most of the cells swell, rupture and lyse after CaEP, although some cells may exhibit apoptotic morphology and shrinkage (Fig. 3) [48,49]. Several studies reported an immediate, severe and long-lasting drop in cellular ATP level [33,46–49]. ATP depletion as a result of increased intracellular Ca²⁺ may be caused by highly increased activity of Ca-ATPases in plasma membrane (PMCA) and ER (SERCA) that try



Fig. 3. Necrosis after calcium electroporation (Ca EP). Increased plasma membrane (PM) permeability causes massive Ca^{2*} influx and high intracellular Ca^{2*} concentration (1). This leads to: (2) an increased ATP consumption due to activation of Ca^{2*} pumps (PM, ER) and other pumps (such as Na^*/K^* -ATPase), and ATP loss through permeabilized PM, (3) loss of ATP production due to calcium overload in mitochondria and disruption of electrochemical gradient in mitochondria necessary for ATP production, and (4) other effects such as activation of lipases and proteases, and generation of ROS. A severe ATP depletion in cells eventually triggers necrosis (5). At the necrotic stage (5) plasma membrane is ruptured, and cell lysis occurs (this stage is symbolically depicted here on a smaller scale). Derived from [46]. Created with BioRender.com.

to restore low levels of intracellular Ca²⁺, opening of permeability transition pores in the mitochondrial membrane, resulting in loss of ATP production, and a direct loss of ATP, i.e. leakage through permeabilized plasma membrane [32,46]. Besides the abrupt ATP depletion which is pivotal for necrosis induction, calcium overload also causes activation of lipases and proteases, and generation of ROS which may also contribute to cell death [32,46]. It has been shown that normal cells seem to be less sensitive to Ca EP than cancer cells [251–254]. Moreover, contrary to ECT, Ca EP induces cytotoxicity without any genotoxicity [33]. It was also reported to elicit immune response and long-term anti-tumour prevention mediated by DAMP molecules (HMGB1) [45].

3.3.3. Immunogenic cell death and immune response

In many studies using electric pulses of different parameters researchers report immunogenic cell death (ICD) eliciting immune response. The term immunogenic cell death is used here in a broader context of different types of cell death that can trigger immune response (necrosis, necroptosis, pyroptosis, and even apoptosis), not referring to a specific type of ICD characterized by apoptotic morphology and connected to ER stress [255].

In *in vivo* treatments of tumours with IRE and H-FIRE [58,73,73,85–88,92,129,135,137,142,144,212,221,222,244,256–26 0], ECT [50,235,261,262], Ca EP [44,45,253,261] and nsEP [51,127,226,263–266], immune response was observed. Besides innate immune response that recruits macrophages and natural killer cells to remove damaged and dead treated tumour cells and debris, the most important is adapted immune response: the activation of specific anti-tumour memory cells can lead to long-lasting protection against tumour that was treated and can, with an abscopal effect (*ab scopus* – away from target) prevent metastases to spread the disease, as was also reported in some cases after

electroporation [45,51,58,127,226,256–258,261,264–266]. A strong positive correlation between up-regulation of cellular immunity-associated genes and decreased tumour diameter was shown [58]. Moreover, "vaccination" with ECT or nsEP-treated cancer cells protects animals against subsequent challenge with cancer cells [50,264]. Therefore, the immune response in treating cancer is advantageous. However, not all EP-based treatments were successful in eliciting a long-term anti-cancer protection [267], and in some cases incomplete eradication of tumours was reported to lead to even faster growth of recurring tumours [268].

EP is also a potent immunological adjuvant for genetic vaccination with gene electrotransfer (GET) due to a low-intensity tissue damage, which rapidly resolves, and pro-inflammatory cytokine release [7,269]. GET of cytokine genes can be used in combination with EP [270–273] or ECT [274,275] to boost the immune response after EP or ECT and enable to prevent recurrences and distant metastases. A combination of ECT with immunostimulating agents (e.g. interleukin-2) can also be an elegant and efficient way to cure both the ECT-treated nodules and distant nodules [276]. However, the immune response in gene therapy can also be unwanted since it may eliminate transfected cells or interfere with transgenic protein expression and function [277,278].

Immunogenic cell death is characterised by release of damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs) from dying cells [13,16,17,19,25]. Released DAMPs bind to pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) of immune cells and elicit immune response [16–18]. The signalling of DAMP molecules is reviewed by Galluzzi [17]. Indeed, it was shown that IRE [25,129,256], H-FIRE [58], ECT [50], GET [92] and nsEP [51,127,128] cause release of DAMPs both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In most of these studies, ATP, calreticulin and HMGB1 were detected as they represent the gold standard for predicting the ICD-inducing capacity of chemotherapeutic agents [22]. However, other DAMPs such as nucleic acids and uric acid were also investigated [25]. The release of DAMPs increases with increasing pulse amplitude, number and duration [25,51,53,128,129,256] which is consistent with the hypothesis that the release of DAMPs correlates with the degree of (membrane) injury inflicted to cells [25,279]. However, in a recent study *in vitro*, concentrations of DAMPs correlate strongly with cell death but only weakly with cell membrane permeabilization in the range of reversible EP which suggests greater complexity in DAMP signalling [25].

In necrosis, DAMPs are passively released from the cells (ATP, HMGB1, Hsp70, Hsp90, gp96) or, in the case of an ER protein calreticulin, translocated to the surface of the cells [241,242]. Historically, necrotic cells were considered as the most prominent, if not the only, source of DAMPs since apoptotic cells conserved an intact plasma membrane [280]. However, there are other forms of regulated cell death with necrotic and apoptotic-like morphology that also elicit a strong immune response such as necroptosis and pyroptosis. Since necroptosis and pyroptosis were only investigated in recent years it is possible that necrosis and apoptosis identified morphologically in some older studies may in fact be attributed to necroptosis or pyroptosis [145].

Necroptosis is a form of regulated and immunogenic cell death showing morphological features similar to necrosis [11,13,15,281]. Typical events for determining necroptosis (Fig. 4) is activation of receptor interacting serine/threonine kinase 3 (RIPK3) which subsequently activates mixed lineage kinase domain-like pseudokinase (MLKL), the effector of necroptosis: MLKL migrates to plasma membrane and causes membrane permeabilization, cell swelling and rupture which results in release of DAMPs [11,13,15,281,282]. A few studies have identified necroptosis *in vitro* or *in vivo* after IRE [73,145], electroporation combined with electrolysis [216], ECT [237], Ca EP [250] and nsEP [112]. Only two

studies confirmed the activation of RIPK3 and MLKL [73,216], others determined necroptosis on the basis of morphology and time frame of cell death [145,237], or other biochemical characteristics such as sensitivity to necroptotic inhibitors [237], analysis of other cell death mechanisms [112] or activation of genes that may contribute to necroptosis signalling [250]. The lack of RIP3 expression in B16F10 melanoma cells may contribute to a weak antitumour immune response after treatment with nsEP [246].

Pyroptosis is a regulated, caspase-dependent cell death which differs from apoptosis (also regulated, caspase-dependent cell death) in morphology, biochemical pathways and immune response. Pyroptosis (Fig. 5) is driven by the activation of inflammatory caspases, most importantly, caspase -1 (but also 4, 5, or 11) that is activated within an inflammasome, a macromolecular protein complex composed of inflammasome-initiating sensors and inflammatory caspases [283]. Inflammatory caspases activate gasdermin D, a pore-forming protein that permeabilizes plasma membrane and promote the release of DAMPs through pores and subsequent membrane ruptures. Caspase-1 also activates inflammatory cytokines, IL-1 β and IL-18 which are then released through gasdermin D and membrane ruptures into the cell surrounding [11,13,281]. The release of DAMPs and, especially, the release of inflammatory cytokines promote a strong immune response [11,13,281]. Pyroptosis exhibits a distinct morphology that includes multiple bubble-like protrusions that can produce pyroptotic bodies, and a peculiar form of chromatin condensation that differs from its apoptotic counterpart. Cell lysis after membrane rupture is also typical for pyroptosis but not for apoptosis [11,284].

Activated caspase-1 and gasdermin D were found in liver tissue treated with IRE [73] or electroporation combined with electrolysis [216] and upregulation of genes associated with pyroptosis in H-FIRE treated tumours were linked to a systemic anti-tumour immune response [58]. It is likely that DAMP molecules activate



Fig. 4. Necroptosis after electroporation. Necroptosis is triggered by activation of death receptors, DNA damage or ROS production (1). The formation of necrosome enables the activation of RIPK3 kinase (2) which then activates mixed lineage kinase domain-like pseudokinase MLKL (3). Activated MLKL molecules engage in oligomerization (4) and move to plasma membrane where they possibly form pore and/or activate ion channels which allow increased transport of ions and water through plasma membrane (5). This leads to cell swelling, membrane rupture and eventually, to cell death. DAMPs released through pores and/or ruptures stimulate immune response (5, 6). Derived from [281,282]. Created with BioRender.com.



Fig. 5. Pyroptosis after electroporation. Pyroptosis is triggered by DAMPs or other stress responses (ATP, ROS) (1). Inflammatory caspases (mostly caspase-1) are activated within an inflammasome (2). Caspase-1 activates gasdermin D (GSDMD) (3), a pore-forming protein that permeabilizes plasma membrane. Caspase-1 also activates inflammatory cytokines, IL-1 β and IL-18 (4). Cytokines and DAMP molecules are released through GSDMD pores out of the cell and stimulate immune response (5). Ion exchange and water influx through GSDMD pores cause cell swelling, membrane rupture, leakage of cell's constituents (including DAMPs and cytokines) and eventually, cell death (6). Derived from [281,282]. Created with BioRender.com.

NLRP3 inflammasome pathway in caspase-1-dependent pyroptosis [58].

Electroporation with a chemotherapeutic drug SN38 in the presence of free Fe²⁺ ions may lead to ferroptosis [285], a form of regulated, immunogenic cell death initiated by oxidative perturbations of the intracellular microenvironment, particularly severe lipid peroxidation, which relies on ROS generation and iron availability [11]. Since EP causes such oxidative perturbations in plasma membrane it may lead to ferroptosis [56].

Although apoptosis is considered non-immunogenic [14], nsEP and IRE treatments still elicit immune response. This can be explained by the fact that some cells in treated tumours undergo necrosis as well, especially near the electrodes, or other immunogenic forms of cell death, and it is sufficient to trigger immune response [24,112]. Moreover, some studies show that also caspase-dependent apoptotic processes can lead to immune response and exposure of DAMP molecules in pre-apoptotic stage [51,226,255,286–288], possibly through ER stress [51,128,264].

4. Conclusions

(1) There are many different forms and pathways of cell death that occur in cells and tissues. Apoptosis, necrosis, necroptosis and pyroptosis were all reported to be induced by electric pulses causing electroporation under certain conditions. The ability to trigger an immune response after electroporationbased cancer treatments is crucial for eradication of tumours on a long-term scale to prevent the recurrence. We strongly believe that with an increasing knowledge on how pulse parameters and different treatment conditions affect cell death pathways is a key to optimisation of therapies.

- (2) The extent of cell death pathways needs to be evaluated in cells of different physiology to determine whether pulses are simply stimulating molecular responses or whether its effects are more specific and truly related to the electric pulse parameters. In addition, much care must be taken when comparing studies across different pulse durations and pulse shapes. Considering different types of cell death that occur after EP treatments that use a large range of pulse parameters, maybe cell death mechanisms between long and short pulses are more connected than was previously believed.
- (3) Electroporated cells exhibit membrane damage, increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration, mitochondrial disruption, ATP depletion, ROS production, and DNA damage, which all contribute to different forms of cell death. Nevertheless, the exact targets that may lead to different mechanisms of cell death caused by electroporation in different cells under specific conditions still need to be determined. However, this may not be an easy task, considering the cell specificity, complexity, interconnectivity and overlapping of cell injury and death pathways.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Tina Batista Napotnik: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Visualization, Writing original draft, Writing - review & editing. **Tamara Polajžer:** Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing review & editing. **Damijan Miklavčič:** Conceptualization, Methodology, Funding acquisition, Resources, Supervision, Writing - review & editing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments and funding

This work was supported by research funding from Medtronic and the Slovenian Research Agency ARRS (research core funding No. P2-0249 and IP-0510).

Competing interests

Dr. T. Batista Napotnik, T. Polajžer and Dr. D. Miklavčič received research funds and Dr. Miklavčič consultation fees from Medtronic.

References

- T. Kotnik, L. Rems, M. Tarek, D. Miklavčič, Membrane Electroporation and Electropermeabilization: Mechanisms and Models, Annu. Rev. Biophys. 48 (2019) 63–91, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biophys-052118-115451.
- [2] L.G. Campana, I. Edhemović, D. Soden, A.M. Perrone, M. Scarpa, L. Campanacci, M. Čemažar, S. Valpione, D. Miklavčič, S. Mocellin, E. Sieni, G. Serša, Electrochemotherapy - emerging applications technical advances, new indications, combined approaches, and multi-institutional collaboration, Eur. J. Surg. Oncol. 45 (2019) 92–102, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2018.11.023.
- [3] L. Lambricht, A. Lopes, Š. Kos, G. Serša, V. Préat, G. Vandermeulen, Clinical potential of electroporation for gene therapy and DNA vaccine delivery, Expert Opinion Drug Delivery. 13 (2016) 295–310, https://doi.org/10.1517/ 17425247.2016.1121990.
- [4] B. Geboers, H.J. Scheffer, P.M. Graybill, A.H. Ruarus, S. Nieuwenhuizen, R.S. Puijk, P.M. van den Tol, R.V. Davalos, B. Rubinsky, T.D. de Gruijl, D. Miklavčič, M.R. Meijerink, High-voltage electrical pulses in oncology: irreversible electroporation, electrochemotherapy, gene electrotransfer, electrofusion, and electroimmunotherapy, Radiology 295 (2020) 254–272, https://doi.org/ 10.1148/radiol.2020192190.
- [5] A. Sugrue, E. Maor, A. Ivorra, V. Vaidya, C. Witt, S. Kapa, S. Asirvatham, Irreversible electroporation for the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias, Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther. 16 (2018) 349–360, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14779072.2018.1459185.
- [6] C.J. Bradley, D.E. Haines, Pulsed field ablation for pulmonary vein isolation in the treatment of atrial fibrillation, J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 31 (2020) 2136–2147, https://doi.org/10.1111/jce.14414.
- [7] P. Chiarella, E. Massi, M. De Robertis, A. Sibilio, P. Parrella, V.M. Fazio, E. Signori, Electroporation of skeletal muscle induces danger signal release and antigen-presenting cell recruitment independently of DNA vaccine administration, Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 8 (2008) 1645–1657, https://doi.org/10.1517/14712598.8.11.1645.
- [8] D. Miklavcic, ed., Handbook of Electroporation, Springer International Publishing, 2017. https://www.springer.com/gp/book/9783319328850 (accessed February 22, 2021).
- [9] V. Kumar, A.K. Abbas, J.C. Aster, Chapter 2 Cell Injury, Cell Death and Adaptations, in: Robbins Basic Pathology, 10 edition,., Elsevier, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 2017, pp. 31–56.
- [10] M.A. Miller, J.F. Zachary, Mechanisms and morphology of cellular injury, adaptation, and death, Pathol. Basis Veterinary Dis. (2017) 2–43.e19, https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-35775-3.00001-1.
- [11] L. Galluzzi, I. Vitale, S.A. Aaronson, J.M. Abrams, D. Adam, P. Agostinis, E.S. Alnemri, L. Altucci, I. Amelio, D.W. Andrews, M. Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli, A. V. Antonov, E. Arama, E.H. Baehrecke, N.A. Barlev, N.G. Bazan, F. Bernassola, M.J.M. Bertrand, K. Bianchi, M.V. Blagosklonny, K. Blomgren, C. Borner, P. Boya, C. Brenner, M. Campanella, E. Candi, D. Carmona-Gutierrez, F. Cecconi, F.K.-M. Chan, N.S. Chandel, E.H. Cheng, J.E. Chipuk, J.A. Cidlowski, A. Ciechanover, G.M. Cohen, M. Conrad, J.R. Cubillos-Ruiz, P.E. Czabotar, V. D'Angiolella, T.M. Dawson, V.L. Dawson, V. De Laurenzi, R. De Maria, K.-M. Debatin, R.J. DeBerardinis, M. Deshmukh, N. Di Daniele, F. Di Virgilio, V.M. Dixit, S.J. Dixon, C.S. Duckett, B.D. Dynlacht, W.S. El-Deiry, J.W. Elrod, G.M. Fimia, S. Fulda, A.J. García-Sáez, A.D. Garg, C. Garrido, E. Gavathiotis, P. Golstein, E. Gottlieb, D.R. Green, L.A. Greene, H. Gronemeyer, A. Gross, G. Hajnoczky, J.M. Hardwick, I.S. Harris, M.O. Hengartner, C. Hetz, H. Ichijo, M. Jäättelä, B. Joseph, P.J. Jost, P.P. Juin, W.J. Kaiser, M. Karin, T. Kaufmann, O. Kepp, A. Kimchi, R.N. Kitsis, D.J. Klionsky, R.A. Knight, S. Kumar, S.W. Lee, J.J. Lemasters, B. Levine, A. Linkermann, S.A. Lipton, R.A. Lockshin, C. López-Otín, S.W. Lowe, T. Luedde, E. Lugli, M. MacFarlane, F. Madeo, M. Malewicz, W. Malorni, G. Manic, J.-C. Marine, S.J. Martin, J.-C. Martinou, J.P. Medema, P. Mehlen, P. Meier, S. Melino, E.A. Miao, J.D. Molkentin, U.M. Moll, C. Muñoz-

Pinedo, S. Nagata, G. Nuñez, A. Oberst, M. Oren, M. Overholtzer, M. Pagano, T. Panaretakis, M. Pasparakis, J.M. Penninger, D.M. Pereira, S. Pervaiz, M.E. Peter, M. Piacentini, P. Pinton, J.H.M. Prehn, H. Puthalakath, G.A. Rabinovich, M. Rehm, R. Rizzuto, C.M.P. Rodrigues, D.C. Rubinsztein, T. Rudel, K.M. Ryan, E. Sayan, L. Scorrano, F. Shao, Y. Shi, J. Silke, H.-U. Simon, A. Sistigu, B.R. Stockwell, A. Strasser, G. Szabadkai, S.W.G. Tait, D. Tang, N. Tavernarakis, A. Thorburn, Y. Tsujimoto, B. Turk, T. Vanden Berghe, P. Vandenabeele, M.G. Vander Heiden, A. Villunger, H.W. Virgin, K.H. Vousden, D. Vucic, E.F. Wagner, H. Walczak, D. Wallach, Y. Wang, J.A. Wells, W. Wood, J. Yuan, Z. Zakeri, B. Zhivotovsky, L. Zitvogel, G. Melino, G. Kroemer, Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2018, Cell Death Differ. 25 (2018) 486–541, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-017-0012-4.

- [12] J.J. Lemasters, Chapter 1 Molecular Mechanisms of Cell Death, in: W.B. Coleman, G.J. Tsongalis (Eds.), Molecular Pathology, 2 edition, Academic Press, 2018, pp. 1–24, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802761-5.00001-8.
- [13] D. Tang, R. Kang, T.V. Berghe, P. Vandenabeele, G. Kroemer, The molecular machinery of regulated cell death, Cell Res. 29 (2019) 347–364, https://doi. org/10.1038/s41422-019-0164-5.
- [14] L. Galluzzi, M.C. Maiuri, I. Vitale, H. Zischka, M. Castedo, L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer, Cell death modalities: classification and pathophysiological implications, Cell Death Differ. 14 (2007) 1237–1243, https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4402148.
- [15] M.S. D'Arcy, Cell death: a review of the major forms of apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy, Cell Biol. Int. 43 (2019) 582–592, https://doi.org/10.1002/ cbin.11137.
- [16] M.E. Bianchi, DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger, J. Leukoc. Biol. 81 (2007) 1–5, https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0306164.
- [17] L. Galluzzi, A. Buqué, O. Kepp, L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer, Immunogenic cell death in cancer and infectious disease, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 17 (2017) 97–111, https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.107.
- [18] D. Tang, R. Kang, C.B. Coyne, H.J. Zeh, M.T. Lotze, PAMPs and DAMPs: signal 0s that spur autophagy and immunity, Immunol. Rev. 249 (2012) 158–175, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01146.x.
- [19] J.S. Roh, D.H. Sohn, Damage-associated molecular patterns in inflammatory diseases, Immune Netw. 18 (2018), https://doi.org/10.4110/in.2018.18.e27.
- [20] W. Hou, Q. Zhang, Z. Yan, R. Chen, H.J. Zeh III, R. Kang, M.T. Lotze, D. Tang, Strange attractors: DAMPs and autophagy link tumor cell death and immunity, Cell Death Dis. 4 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2013.493 e966.
- [21] O. Krysko, T. Løve Aaes, C. Bachert, P. Vandenabeele, D.V. Krysko, Many faces of DAMPs in cancer therapy, Cell Death Dis. 4 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1038/ cddis.2013.156 e631.
- [22] J. Zhou, G. Wang, Y. Chen, H. Wang, Y. Hua, Z. Cai, Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy: present and emerging inducers, J. Cell. Mol. Med. 23 (2019) 4854–4865, https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.14356.
- [23] T. Batista Napotnik, M. Reberšek, P.T. Vernier, B. Mali, D. Miklavčič, Effects of high voltage nanosecond electric pulses on eukaryotic cells (in vitro): a systematic review, Bioelectrochemistry 110 (2016) 1–12, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2016.02.011.
- [24] R.M. Brock, N. Beitel-White, R.V. Davalos, I.C. Allen, Starting a fire without flame: the induction of cell death and inflammation in electroporation-based tumor ablation strategies, Front. Oncol. 10 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fonc.2020.01235.
- [25] T. Polajzer, T. Jarm, D. Miklavcic, Analysis of damage-associated molecular pattern molecules due to electroporation of cells in vitro, Radiol Oncol. 54 (2020) 317–328, https://doi.org/10.2478/raon-2020-0047.
- [26] J. Teissie, Involvement of Reactive Oxygen Species in Membrane Electropermeabilization, in: D. Miklavcic (Ed.), Handbook of Electroporation, Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2017: pp. 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-26779-1_40-1.
- [27] M. Maccarrone, M.R. Bladergroen, N. Rosato, A.F. Agro, Role of lipid peroxidation in electroporation-induced cell permeability, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 209 (1995) 417-425, https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1995.1519.
- [28] O. Michel, A.G. Pakhomov, M. Casciola, J. Saczko, J. Kulbacka, O.N. Pakhomova, Electropermeabilization does not correlate with plasma membrane lipid oxidation, Bioelectrochemistry 132 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bioelechem.2019.107433 107433.
- [29] W. Chen, Z. Zhongsheng, R.C. Lee, Supramembrane potential-induced electroconformational changes in sodium channel proteins: a potential mechanism involved in electric injury, Burns. 32 (2006) 52–59, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.burns.2005.08.008.
- [30] W. Chen, R.C. Lee, Altered ion channel conductance and ionic selectivity induced by large imposed membrane potential pulse, Biophys. J. 67 (1994) 603–612, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(94)80520-X.
- [31] L. Rems, M.A. Kasimova, I. Testa, L. Delemotte, Pulsed electric fields can create pores in the voltage sensors of voltage-gated ion channels, Biophys. J. 119 (2020) 190–205, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2020.05.030.
- [32] S.K. Frandsen, M. Vissing, J. Gehl, A comprehensive review of calcium electroporation -a novel cancer treatment modality, Cancers (Basel). 12 (2020), https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12020290.
- [33] L. Gibot, A. Montigny, H. Baaziz, I. Fourquaux, M. Audebert, M.-P. Rols, Calcium delivery by electroporation induces in vitro cell death through mitochondrial dysfunction without DNA damages, Cancers (Basel). 12 (2020), https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12020425.

- [34] M.J. Berridge, M.D. Bootman, H.L. Roderick, Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4 (2003) 517–529, https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1155.
- [35] S.J. Beebe, Y.-J. Chen, N.M. Sain, K.H. Schoenbach, S. Xiao, Transient features in nanosecond pulsed electric fields differentially modulate mitochondria and viability, PLoS ONE 7 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051349.
- [36] C. Muratori, A.G. Pakhomov, E.C. Gianulis, S.D. Jensen, O.N. Pakhomova, The cytotoxic synergy of nanosecond electric pulses and low temperature leads to apoptosis, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 36835, https://doi.org/10.1038/srep36835.
- [37] O.N. Pakhomova, B. Gregory, I. Semenov, A.G. Pakhomov, Calcium-mediated pore expansion and cell death following nanoelectroporation, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 2014 (1838) 2547–2554, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamem.2014.06.015.
- [38] O.N. Pakhomova, B.W. Gregory, I. Semenov, A.G. Pakhomov, Two modes of cell death caused by exposure to nanosecond pulsed electric field, PLoS ONE 8 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070278 e70278.
- [39] M. Yano, M. Yano, K. Abe, S. Katsuki, H. Akiyama, Gene expression analysis of apoptosis pathway in HeLa S3 cells subjected to nanosecond pulsed electric fields, in: 2011 IEEE Pulsed Power Conference (PPC), 2011: pp. 1221–1225. https://doi.org/10.1109/PPC.2011.6191588.
- [40] S.J. Beebe, P.F. Blackmore, J. White, R.P. Joshi, K.H. Schoenbach, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields modulate cell function through intracellular signal transduction mechanisms, Physiol. Meas. 25 (2004) 1077–1093, https://doi. org/10.1088/0967-3334/25/4/023.
- [41] J.A. White, P.F. Blackmore, K.H. Schoenbach, S.J. Beebe, Stimulation of capacitative calcium entry in HL-60 cells by nanosecond pulsed electric fields, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 22964–22972, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M311135200.
- [42] I. Semenov, S. Xiao, A.G. Pakhomov, Primary pathways of intracellular Ca(2+) mobilization by nanosecond pulsed electric field, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 2013 (1828) 981–989, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.11.032.
- [43] I. Semenov, S. Xiao, O.N. Pakhomova, A.G. Pakhomov, Recruitment of the intracellular Ca2+ by ultrashort electric stimuli: the impact of pulse duration, Cell Calcium 54 (2013) 145–150, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2013.05.008.
- [44] H. Falk, L.W. Matthiessen, G. Wooler, J. Gehl, Calcium electroporation for treatment of cutaneous metastases; a randomized double-blinded phase II study, comparing the effect of calcium electroporation with electrochemotherapy, Acta Oncol. 57 (2018) 311–319, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/0284186X.2017.1355109.
- [45] H. Falk, P.F. Forde, M.L. Bay, U.M. Mangalanathan, P. Hojman, D.M. Soden, J. Gehl, Calcium electroporation induces tumor eradication, long-lasting immunity and cytokine responses in the CT26 colon cancer mouse model, Oncolmmunology. 6 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2017.1301332 e1301332.
- [46] S.K. Frandsen, H. Gissel, P. Hojman, T. Tramm, J. Eriksen, J. Gehl, Direct therapeutic applications of calcium electroporation to effectively induce tumor necrosis, Cancer Res. 72 (2012) 1336–1341, https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-11-3782.
- [47] S.K. Frandsen, J. Gehl, Effect of calcium electroporation in combination with metformin in vivo and correlation between viability and intracellular ATP level after calcium electroporation in vitro, PLoS ONE 12 (2017), https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181839 e0181839.
- [48] E.L. Hansen, E.B. Sozer, S. Romeo, S.K. Frandsen, P.T. Vernier, J. Gehl, Dosedependent ATP depletion and cancer cell death following calcium electroporation, relative effect of calcium concentration and electric field strength, PLoS ONE 10 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122973
- [49] B. Staresinic, T. Jesenko, U. Kamensek, S. Krog Frandsen, G. Sersa, J. Gehl, M. Cemazar, Effect of calcium electroporation on tumour vasculature, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 9412, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27728-z.
- [50] C.Y. Calvet, D. Famin, F.M. André, L.M. Mir, Electrochemotherapy with bleomycin induces hallmarks of immunogenic cell death in murine colon cancer cells, Oncoimmunology. 3 (2014), https://doi.org/10.4161/onci.28131.
- [51] R. Nuccitelli, A. McDaniel, S. Anand, J. Cha, Z. Mallon, J.C. Berridge, D. Uecker, Nano-Pulse Stimulation is a physical modality that can trigger immunogenic tumor cell death, J. ImmunoTher. Cancer 5 (2017) 32, https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40425-017-0234-5.
- [52] J.C. Seegers, L. Lottering, A.M. Joubert, F. Joubert, A. Koorts, C.A. Engelbrecht, D.H. van Papendorp, A pulsed DC electric field affects P2-purinergic receptor functions by altering the ATP levels in in vitro and in vivo systems, Med. Hypotheses 58 (2002) 171–176, https://doi.org/10.1054/mehy.2001.1506.
- [53] M.P. Rols, J. Teissié, Electropermeabilization of mammalian cells. Quantitative analysis of the phenomenon, Biophys. J. 58 (1990) 1089–1098.
- [54] P. Nicotera, M. Leist, E. Ferrando-May, Intracellular ATP, a switch in the decision between apoptosis and necrosis, Toxicol. Lett. 102–103 (1998) 139– 142, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4274(98)00298-7.
- [55] B. Gabriel, J. Teissié, Generation of reactive-oxygen species induced by electropermeabilization of Chinese hamster ovary cells and their consequence on cell viability, Eur. J. Biochem. 223 (1994) 25–33, https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1994.tb18962.x.
- [56] D. Wiczew, N. Szulc, M. Tarek, On the permeability of cell membranes subjected to lipid oxidation, BioRxiv. (2020) 2020.11.30.403345. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.11.30.403345.
- [57] O.N. Pakhomova, V.A. Khorokhorina, A.M. Bowman, R. Rodaite-Riševičiene, G. Saulis, S. Xiao, A.G. Pakhomov, Oxidative effects of nanosecond pulsed electric

field exposure in cells and cell-free media, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 527 (2012) 55-64, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2012.08.004.

- [58] V.M. Ringel-Scaia, N. Beitel-White, M.F. Lorenzo, R.M. Brock, K.E. Huie, S. Coutermarsh-Ott, K. Eden, D.K. McDaniel, S.S. Verbridge, J.H. Rossmeisl, K.J. Oestreich, R.V. Davalos, I.C. Allen, High-frequency irreversible electroporation is an effective tumor ablation strategy that induces immunologic cell death and promotes systemic anti-tumor immunity, EBioMedicine. 44 (2019) 112–125, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.05.036.
- [59] W. Szlasa, A. Kiełbik, A. Szewczyk, N. Rembiałkowska, V. Novickij, M. Tarek, J. Saczko, J. Kulbacka, Oxidative effects during irreversible electroporation of melanoma cells—in vitro study, Molecules 26 (2021) 154, https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26010154.
- [60] M. Redza-Dutordoir, D.A. Averill-Bates, Activation of apoptosis signalling pathways by reactive oxygen species, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) – Molecular Cell Res. 1863 (2016) 2977–2992, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamcr.2016.09.012.
- [61] K.H. Schoenbach, S.J. Beebe, E.S. Buescher, Intracellular effect of ultrashort electrical pulses, Bioelectromagnetics. 22 (2001) 440–448.
- [62] S.J. Beebe, P.M. Fox, L.J. Rec, E.L.K. Willis, K.H. Schoenbach, Nanosecond, highintensity pulsed electric fields induce apoptosis in human cells, FASEB J. 17 (2003) 1493–1495, https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.02-0859fje.
- [63] S.J. Beebe, P.M. Fox, L.J. Rec, K. Somers, R.H. Stark, K.H. Schoenbach, Nanosecond pulsed electric field (nsPEF) effects on cells and tissues: apoptosis induction and tumor growth inhibition, IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci. 30 (2002) 286–292, https://doi.org/10.1109/TPS.2002.1003872.
- [64] T.B. Batista Napotnik, Y.-H. Wu, M.A. Gundersen, D. Miklavčič, P.T. Vernier, Nanosecond electric pulses cause mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in Jurkat cells, Bioelectromagnetics. 33 (2012) 257–264, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/bem.20707.
- [65] S. Beebe, N. Sain, W. Ren, Induction of Cell Death Mechanisms and Apoptosis by Nanosecond Pulsed Electric Fields (nsPEFs), Cells. 2 (2013) 136–162, https://doi.org/10.3390/cells2010136.
- [66] S.J. Beebe, W.E. Ford, W. Ren, X. Chen, K.H. Schoenbach, Non-ionizing radiation with nanosecond pulsed electric fields as a cancer treatment: in vitro studies, in: Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2009. EMBC 2009, 2009: pp. 6509–6512. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEMBS.2009.5333139.
- [67] W.E. Ford, W. Ren, P.F. Blackmore, K.H. Schoenbach, S.J. Beebe, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields stimulate apoptosis without release of pro-apoptotic factors from mitochondria in B16f10 melanoma, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 497 (2010) 82–89, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2010.03.008.
- [68] Y. Mi, C. Sun, C. Yao, C. Li, D. Mo, L. Tang, H. Liu, Effects of steep pulsed electric fields (SPEF) on mitochondrial transmembrane potential of human liver cancer cell, Conf Proc IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc. 2007 (2007) 5815–5818, https://doi.org/10.1109/IEMBS.2007.4353669.
- [69] W. Ren, S.J. Beebe, An apoptosis targeted stimulus with nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEFs) in E4 squamous cell carcinoma, Apoptosis 16 (2011) 382–393, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-010-0572-y.
- [70] D. Xiao, L. Tang, C. Zeng, J. Wang, X. Luo, C. Yao, C. Sun, Effect of actin cytoskeleton disruption on electric pulse-induced apoptosis and electroporation in tumour cells, Cell Biol. Int. 35 (2011) 99–104, https://doi. org/10.1042/CBI20100464.
- [71] S.J. Beebe, Considering effects of nanosecond pulsed electric fields on proteins, Bioelectrochemistry 103 (2015) 52–59, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bioelechem.2014.08.014.
- [72] P.S. Brookes, Y. Yoon, J.L. Robotham, M.W. Anders, S.-S. Sheu, Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 287 (2004) C817–C833, https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00139.2004.
- [73] Y. Zhang, C. Lyu, Y. Liu, Y. Lv, T.T. Chang, B. Rubinsky, Molecular and histological study on the effects of non-thermal irreversible electroporation on the liver, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 500 (2018) 665–670, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.04.132.
- [74] A. Goldberg, B. Rubinsky, The effect of electroporation type pulsed electric fields on DNA in aqueous solution, Technol. Cancer Res. Treat. 9 (2010) 423– 430, https://doi.org/10.1177/153303461000900412.
- [75] W.S. Meaking, J. Edgerton, C.W. Wharton, R.A. Meldrum, Electroporationinduced damage in mammalian cell DNA, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Structure and Expression. 1264 (1995) 357–362. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0167-4781(95)00177-8.
- [76] M. Stacey, J. Stickley, P. Fox, V. Statler, K. Schoenbach, S.J. Beebe, S. Buescher, Differential effects in cells exposed to ultra-short, high intensity electric fields: cell survival, DNA damage, and cell cycle analysis, Mutation Research/ Genetic Toxicol. Environ. Mutagenesis 542 (2003) 65–75, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.mrgentox.2003.08.006.
- [77] H. Zou, X.L. Gan, L.J. Linghu, C. Chen, L.N. Hu, Y. Zhang, Intense nanosecond pulsed electric fields promote cancer cell apoptosis through centrosomedependent pathway involving reduced level of PLK1, Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. 17 (2013) 152–160.
- [78] B. Al-Sakere, F. André, C. Bernat, E. Connault, P. Opolon, R.V. Davalos, B. Rubinsky, L.M. Mir, Tumor Ablation with Irreversible Electroporation, PLoS ONE 2 (2007), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001135.
- [79] E.H. Hall, K.H. Schoenbach, S.J. Beebe, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields induce apoptosis in p53-wildtype and p53-null HCT116 colon carcinoma cells, Apoptosis 12 (2007) 1721–1731, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-007-0083-7.

- [80] F. Hofmann, H. Ohnimus, C. Scheller, W. Strupp, U. Zimmermann, C. Jassoy, Electric field pulses can induce apoptosis, J. Membrane Biol. 169 (1999) 103– 109, https://doi.org/10.1007/s002329900522.
- [81] B.L. Ibey, A.G. Pakhomov, B.W. Gregory, V.A. Khorokhorina, C.C. Roth, M.A. Rassokhin, J.A. Bernhard, G.J. Wilmink, O.N. Pakhomova, Selective cytotoxicity of intense nanosecond-duration electric pulses in mammalian cells, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects. (1800 (2010)) 1210–1219, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2010.07.008.
- [82] I. Kaminska, M. Kotulska, A. Stecka, J. Saczko, M. Drag-Zalesinska, T. Wysocka, A. Choromanska, N. Skolucka, R. Nowicki, J. Marczak, J. Kulbacka, Electroporation-induced changes in normal immature rat myoblasts (H9C2), Gen. Physiol. Biophys. 31 (2012) 19–25, https://doi.org/10.4149/ gpb_2012_003.
- [83] H.-B. Kim, C.-K. Sung, K.Y. Baik, K.-W. Moon, H.-S. Kim, J.-H. Yi, J.-H. Jung, M.-H. Moon, O.-K. Choi, Changes of apoptosis in tumor tissues with time after irreversible electroporation, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 435 (2013) 651–656, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.039.
- [84] E.W. Lee, D. Wong, B.A. Tafti, V. Prieto, M. Totonchy, J. Hilton, S. Dry, S. Cho, C. T. Loh, S.T. Kee, Irreversible electroporation in eradication of rabbit VX2 liver tumor, J. Vasc. Interv. Radiol. 23 (2012) 833–840, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jvir.2012.02.017.
- [85] E.W. Lee, C. Chen, V.E. Prieto, S.M. Dry, C.T. Loh, S.T. Kee, Advanced hepatic ablation technique for creating complete cell death: irreversible electroporation, Radiology 255 (2010) 426–433, https://doi.org/10.1148/ radiol.10090337.
- [86] J.M. Lee, H.S. Choi, E.S. Kim, B. Keum, Y.S. Seo, Y.T. Jeen, H.S. Lee, H.J. Chun, S.H. Um, C.D. Kim, H.B. Kim, Characterization of irreversible electroporation on the stomach: a feasibility study in rats, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 9094, https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-019-45659-1.
- [87] K.W. Lee, J.M. Lee, H.S. Choi, E.S. Kim, B. Keum, Y.S. Seo, Y.T. Jeen, S.H. Um, H.S. Lee, H.J. Chun, C.D. Kim, C.H. Oh, H.B. Kim, Novel ablation therapy using endoscopic irreversible electroporation in the bile duct: a pilot animal study, Clin Endosc. (2020), https://doi.org/10.5946/ce.2020.126.
- [88] S. Li, F. Chen, L. Shen, Q. Zeng, P. Wu, Percutaneous irreversible electroporation for breast tissue and breast cancer: safety, feasibility, skin effects and radiologic-pathologic correlation in an animal study, J. Transl. Med. 14 (2016) 238, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-016-0993-7.
- [89] G. Long, G. Bakos, P.K. Shires, L. Gritter, J.W. Crissman, J.L. Harris, J.W. Clymer, Histological and Finite Element Analysis of Cell Death due to Irreversible Electroporation, Technol. Cancer Res. Treat. 13 (2014) 561–569, https://doi. org/10.7785/tcrtexpress.2013.600253.
- [90] J. Piñero, M. López-Baena, T. Ortiz, F. Cortés, Apoptotic and necrotic cell death are both induced by electroporation in HL60 human promyeloid leukaemia cells, Apoptosis 2 (1997) 330–336, https://doi.org/10.1023/A:102649730 6006.
- [91] Z. Ren, X. Chen, G. Cui, S. Yin, L. Chen, J. Jiang, Z. Hu, H. Xie, S. Zheng, L. Zhou, Nanosecond pulsed electric field inhibits cancer growth followed by alteration in expressions of NF-κB and Wnt/β-catenin signaling molecules, PLoS ONE 8 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074322.
- [92] K. Schultheis, T.R.F. Smith, W.B. Kiosses, K.A. Kraynyak, A. Wong, J. Oh, K.E. Broderick, Delineating the cellular mechanisms associated with skin electroporation, Hum Gene Ther Methods. 29 (2018) 177–188, https://doi. org/10.1089/hgtb.2017.105.
- [93] D. Yin, W.G. Yang, J. Weissberg, C.B. Goff, W. Chen, Y. Kuwayama, A. Leiter, H. Xing, A. Meixel, D. Gaut, F. Kirkbir, D. Sawcer, P.T. Vernier, J.W. Said, M.A. Gundersen, H.P. Koeffler, Cutaneous papilloma and squamous cell carcinoma therapy utilizing nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEF), PLoS ONE 7 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043891.
- [94] P. Marracino, A. Paffi, R. Reale, M. Liberti, G. D'Inzeo, F. Apollonio, Technology of high-intensity electric field pulses: a way to control protein unfolding, Phys. Chem. Biophys. 3 (2013).
- [95] P. Marracino, F. Apollonio, M. Liberti, G. d'Inzeo, A. Amadei, Effect of High exogenous electric pulses on protein conformation: myoglobin as a case study, J. Phys. Chem. B. 117 (2013) 2273–2279, https://doi.org/10.1021/ jp309857b.
- [96] P. Marracino, D. Havelka, J. Prúša, M. Liberti, J. Tuszynski, A.T. Ayoub, F. Apollonio, M. Cifra, Tubulin response to intense nanosecond-scale electric field in molecular dynamics simulation, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 10477, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-46636-4.
- [97] J. Průša, M. Cifra, Molecular dynamics simulation of the nanosecond pulsed electric field effect on kinesin nanomotor, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 19721, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-56052-3.
- [98] A. Singh, V. Orsat, V. Raghavan, Soybean Hydrophobic Protein Response to External Electric Field: A Molecular Modeling Approach, Biomolecules. 3 (2013) 168–179, https://doi.org/10.3390/biom3010168.
- [99] P. Ojeda-May, M.E. Garcia, Electric field-driven disruption of a native β-Sheet protein conformation and generation of a helix-structure, Biophys J. 99 (2010) 595–599, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2010.04.040.
- [100] D.E. Chafai, V. Sulimenko, D. Havelka, L. Kubínová, P. Dráber, M. Cifra, Reversible and irreversible modulation of tubulin self-assembly by intense nanosecond pulsed electric fields, Adv. Mater. 31 (2019) 1903636, https:// doi.org/10.1002/adma.201903636.
- [101] D.R. Hekstra, K.I. White, M.A. Socolich, R.W. Henning, V. Šrajer, R. Ranganathan, Electric-field-stimulated protein mechanics, Nature 540 (2016) 400–405, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20571.

- [102] Y.-Y. Liu, Y. Zhang, X.-A. Zeng, H. El-Mashad, Z.-L. Pan, Q.-J. Wang, Effect of pulsed electric field on microstructure of some amino acid group of soy protein isolates, Int. J. Food Eng. 10 (2014) 113–120, https://doi.org/10.1515/ ijfe-2013-0033.
- [103] M. Stacey, P. Fox, S. Buescher, J. Kolb, Nanosecond pulsed electric field induced cytoskeleton, nuclear membrane and telomere damage adversely impact cell survival, Bioelectrochemistry 82 (2011) 131–134, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2011.06.002.
- [104] S.J. Beebe, P.F. Blackmore, E. Hall, J.A. White, L.K. Willis, L. Fauntleroy, J.F. Kolb, K.H. Schoenbach, Dynamic effects and applications for nanosecond pulsed electric fields in cells and tissues, in: Proc. SPIE 5692, Advanced Biomedical and Clinical Diagnostic Systems III, 2005: pp. 260–269. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.604449.
- [105] S.J. Beebe, J. White, P.F. Blackmore, Y. Deng, K. Somers, K.H. Schoenbach, Diverse effects of nanosecond pulsed electric fields on cells and tissues, DNA Cell Biol. 22 (2003) 785–796, https://doi.org/10.1089/104454903322624993.
- [106] E.H. Hall, K.H. Schoenbach, S.J. Beebe, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields have differential effects on cells in the S-phase, DNA Cell Biol. 26 (2007) 160–171, https://doi.org/10.1089/dna.2006.0514.
- [107] E.H. Hall, K.H. Schoenbach, S.J. Beebe, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEF) induce direct electric field effects and biological effects on human colon carcinoma cells, DNA Cell Biol. 24 (2005) 283–291, https://doi.org/ 10.1089/dna.2005.24.283.
- [108] B.L. Ibey, J.C. Ullery, O.N. Pakhomova, C.C. Roth, I. Semenov, H.T. Beier, M. Tarango, S. Xiao, K.H. Schoenbach, A.G. Pakhomov, Bipolar nanosecond electric pulses are less efficient at electropermeabilization and killing cells than monopolar pulses, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 443 (2014) 568–573, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.12.004.
- [109] R. Nuccitelli, X. Chen, A.G. Pakhomov, W.H. Baldwin, S. Sheikh, J.L. Pomicter, W. Ren, C. Osgood, R.J. Swanson, J.F. Kolb, S.J. Beebe, K.H. Schoenbach, A new pulsed electric field therapy for melanoma disrupts the tumor's blood supply and causes complete remission without recurrence, Int. J. Cancer. 125 (2009) 438–445, https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.24345.
- [110] W. Qi, J. Guo, S. Wu, B. Su, L. Zhang, J. Pan, J. Zhang, Synergistic effect of nanosecond pulsed electric field combined with low-dose of pingyangmycin on salivary adenoid cystic carcinoma, Oncol. Rep. 31 (2014) 2220–2228, https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2014.3063.
- [111] X. Rao, X. Chen, J. Zhou, L. Sun, J. Liu, A digital controlled pulse generator for a possible tumor therapy combining irreversible electroporation with nanosecond pulse stimulation, IEEE Trans. Biomed. Circuits Syst. 14 (2020) 595–605, https://doi.org/10.1109/TBCAS.2020.2987376.
- [112] W. Ren, N.M. Sain, S.J. Beebe, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEFs) activate intrinsic caspase-dependent and caspase-independent cell death in Jurkat cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 421 (2012) 808–812, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.04.094.
- [113] P.T. Vernier, Y. Sun, L. Marcu, S. Salemi, C.M. Craft, M.A. Gundersen, Calcium bursts induced by nanosecond electric pulses, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 310 (2003) 286–295.
- [114] P.T. Vernier, A. Li, L. Marcu, C.M. Craft, M.A. Gundersen, Ultrashort pulsed electric fields induce membrane phospholipid translocation and caspase activation: differential sensitivities of Jurkat T lymphoblasts and rat glioma C6 cells, IEEE Trans. Dielectr. Electr. Insul. 10 (2003) 795–809, https://doi.org/ 10.1109/TDEI.2003.1237329.
- [115] J. Wang, J. Guo, S. Wu, H. Feng, S. Sun, J. Pan, J. Zhang, S.J. Beebe, Synergistic effects of nanosecond pulsed electric fields combined with low concentration of gemcitabine on human oral squamous cell carcinoma in vitro, PLoS ONE 7 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043213.
- [116] S. Wu, J. Guo, B. Su, J. Zhang, J. Fang, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer: an in vitro study, in: in: 2013 19th IEEE Pulsed Power Conference (PPC), 2013, pp. 1–5, https://doi.org/10.1109/ PPC.2013.6627553.
- [117] D. Xiao, C. Yao, H. Liu, C. Li, J. Cheng, F. Guo, L. Tang, Irreversible electroporation and apoptosis in human liver cancer cells induced by nanosecond electric pulses, Bioelectromagnetics. (2013), https://doi.org/ 10.1002/bem.21796.
- [118] H. Xu, P.D. Nallathamby, X.-H.N. Xu, Real-time imaging and tuning subcellular structures and membrane transport kinetics of single live cells at nanosecond regime, J. Phys. Chem. B. 113 (2009) 14393–14404, https:// doi.org/10.1021/jp9021739.
- [119] W. Yang, Y.-H. Wu, D. Yin, H.P. Koeffler, D.E. Sawcer, P.T. Vernier, M.A. Gundersen, Differential sensitivities of malignant and normal skin cells to nanosecond pulsed electric fields, Technol. Cancer Res. Treat. 10 (2011) 281–286.
- [120] S.J. Beebe, P. Fox, L. Rec, L. Willis, K. Schoenbach, Nanosecond pulsed electric field effects on human cells, in: in: Conference Record of the Twenty-Fifth International Power Modulator Symposium, 2002 and 2002 High-Voltage Workshop, 2002, pp. 652–656, https://doi.org/10.1109/ MODSYM.2002.1189562.
- [121] K. Morotomi-Yano, S. Oyadomari, H. Akiyama, K. Yano, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields act as a novel cellular stress that induces translational suppression accompanied by eIF2α phosphorylation and 4E-BP1 dephosphorylation, Exp. Cell Res. 318 (2012) 1733–1744, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.04.016.
- [122] J.W. Ivey, E.L. Latouche, M.B. Sano, J.H. Rossmeisl, R.V. Davalos, S.S. Verbridge, Targeted cellular ablation based on the morphology of malignant cells, Sci. Rep. 5 (2015) 17157, https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17157.

- [123] B. Mercadal, N. Beitel-White, K.N. Aycock, Q. Castellví, R.V. Davalos, A. Ivorra, Dynamics of Cell Death After Conventional IRE and H-FIRE Treatments, Ann. Biomed. Eng. 48 (2020) 1451–1462, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-020-02462-8.
- [124] E. Tekle, M.D. Wolfe, H. Oubrahim, P.B. Chock, Phagocytic clearance of electric field induced 'apoptosis-mimetic' cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 376 (2008) 256–260, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.08.060.
- [125] H. Zhang, K. Liu, Z. Xue, H. Yin, H. Dong, W. Jin, X. Shi, H. Wang, H. Wang, High-voltage pulsed electric field plus photodynamic therapy kills breast cancer cells by triggering apoptosis, Am. J. Transl. Res. 10 (2018) 334–351.
- [126] W. Zhou, Z. Xiong, Y. Liu, C. Yao, C. Li, Low voltage irreversible electroporation induced apoptosis in HeLa cells, J. Cancer Res. Ther. 8 (2012) 80–85, https:// doi.org/10.4103/0973-1482.95179.
- [127] S. Guo, Y. Jing, N.I. Burcus, B.P. Lassiter, R. Tanaz, R. Heller, S.J. Beebe, Nanopulse stimulation induces potent immune responses, eradicating local breast cancer while reducing distant metastases, Int. J. Cancer. 142 (2018) 629–640, https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31071.
- [128] A. Rossi, O.N. Pakhomova, P.A. Mollica, M. Casciola, U. Mangalanathan, A.G. Pakhomov, C. Muratori, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields induce endoplasmic reticulum stress accompanied by immunogenic cell death in murine models of lymphoma and colorectal cancer, Cancers (Basel). 11 (2019), https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11122034.
- [129] J. Zhao, X. Wen, L. Tian, T. Li, C. Xu, X. Wen, M.P. Melancon, S. Gupta, B. Shen, W. Peng, C. Li, Irreversible electroporation reverses resistance to immune checkpoint blockade in pancreatic cancer, Nat. Commun. 10 (2019), https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08782-1.
- [130] K. Morotomi-Yano, H. Akiyama, K. Yano, Different involvement of extracellular calcium in two modes of cell death induced by nanosecond pulsed electric fields, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 555–556 (2014) 47–54, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2014.05.020.
- [131] L.E. Estlack, C.C. Roth, G.L.T. Iii, W.A.L. Iii, B.L. Ibey, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields modulate the expression of Fas/CD95 death receptor pathway regulators in U937 and Jurkat Cells, Apoptosis 19 (2014) 1755–1768, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-014-1041-9.
- [132] F. Guo, C. Yao, C. Li, Y. Mi, Y. Wen, J. Tang, Dependence on pulse duration and number of tumor cell apoptosis by nanosecond pulsed electric fields, IEEE Trans. Dielectr. Electr. Insul. 20 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1109/ TDEI.2013.6571434.
- [133] X. Miao, S. Yin, Z. Shao, Y. Zhang, X. Chen, Nanosecond pulsed electric field inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in human osteosarcoma, J. Orthop. Surg. Res. 10 (2015) 104, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13018-015-0247-
- [134] K. Morotomi-Yano, H. Akiyama, K.-I. Yano, Nanosecond pulsed electric fields induce poly(ADP-ribose) formation and non-apoptotic cell death in HeLa S3 cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. (2013), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbrc.2013.07.083.
- [135] Y. Guo, Y. Zhang, R. Klein, G.M. Nijm, A.V. Sahakian, R.A. Omary, G.-Y. Yang, A. C. Larson, Liver-directed irreversible electroporation therapy: longitudinal efficacy studies in a rat model of hepatocellular carcinoma, Cancer Res. 70 (2010) 1555, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3067.
- [136] C.B. Arena, M.B. Sano, J.H. Rossmeisl, J.L. Caldwell, P.A. Garcia, M.N. Rylander, R.V. Davalos, High-frequency irreversible electroporation (H-FIRE) for nonthermal ablation without muscle contraction, Biomed. Eng. Online. 10 (2011) 102, https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-925X-10-102.
- [137] A. José, L. Sobrevals, A. Ivorra, C. Fillat, Irreversible electroporation shows efficacy against pancreatic carcinoma without systemic toxicity in mouse models, Cancer Lett. 317 (2012) 16–23, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.canlet.2011.11.004.
- [138] M. Faroja, M. Ahmed, L. Appelbaum, E. Ben-David, M. Moussa, J. Sosna, I. Nissenbaum, S.N. Goldberg, Irreversible electroporation ablation: is all the damage nonthermal?, Radiology 266 (2013) 462–470, https://doiorg/ 10.1148/radiol.12120609.
- [139] L. Appelbaum, E. Ben-David, M. Faroja, Y. Nissenbaum, J. Sosna, S.N. Goldberg, Irreversible electroporation ablation: creation of large-volume ablation zones in in vivo porcine liver with four-electrode arrays, Radiology 270 (2013) 416– 424, https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.13130349.
- [140] E. Ben-David, M. Ahmed, M. Faroja, M. Moussa, A. Wandel, J. Sosna, L. Appelbaum, I. Nissenbaum, S.N. Goldberg, Irreversible electroporation: treatment effect is susceptible to local environment and tissue properties, Radiology 269 (2013) 738–747, https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.13122590.
- [141] Z. Zhang, W. Li, D. Procissi, P. Tyler, R.A. Omary, A.C. Larson, Rapid dramatic alterations to the tumor microstructure in pancreatic cancer following irreversible electroporation ablation, Nanomedicine (Lond). 9 (2014) 1181– 1192, https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.13.72.
- [142] W. Zhang, W. Wang, W. Chai, X. Luo, J. Li, J. Shi, L. Bi, L. Niu, Breast tissue ablation with irreversible electroporation in rabbits: a safety and feasibility study, PLoS ONE 12 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181555 e0181555.
- [143] H.J. Scheffer, K. Nielsen, A. a. J.M. van Tilborg, J.M. Vieveen, R.A. Bouwman, G. Kazemier, H.W.M. Niessen, S. Meijer, C. van Kuijk, M.P. van den Tol, M.R. Meijerink, Ablation of colorectal liver metastases by irreversible electroporation: results of the COLDFIRE-1 ablate-and-resect study, Eur Radiol. 24 (2014) 2467–2475. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00330-014-3259-x.
- [144] W. Chai, W. Zhang, Z. Wei, Y. Xu, J. Shi, X. Luo, J. Zeng, M. Cui, J. Li, L. Niu, Irreversible electroporation of the uterine cervix in a rabbit model, Biomed. Microdevices. 19 (2017) 103, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10544-017-0248-2.

- [145] B. López-Alonso, A. Hernáez, H. Sarnago, A. Naval, A. Güemes, C. Junquera, J. M. Burdío, T. Castiella, E. Monleón, J. Gracia-Llanes, F. Burdio, E. Mejía, O. Lucía, Histopathological and ultrastructural changes after electroporation in pig liver using parallel-plate electrodes and high-performance generator, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 2647, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39433-6.
- [146] J.F. Edd, L. Horowitz, R.V. Davalos, L.M. Mir, B. Rubinsky, In vivo results of a new focal tissue ablation technique: irreversible electroporation, IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 53 (2006) 1409–1415, https://doi.org/10.1109/ TBME.2006.873745.
- [147] S. Hu, C. Sun, B. Wang, K. Zhou, L. Pan, J. Shangguan, J. Yang, V. Yaghmai, M. Figini, Z. Zhang, Diffusion-weighted MR imaging to evaluate immediate response to irreversible electroporation in a rabbit VX2 Liver tumor model, J. Vasc. Interv. Radiol. 30 (2019) 1863–1869, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvir.2019.05.030.
- [148] X. Luo, X. Liang, J. Li, J. Shi, W. Zhang, W. Chai, J. Wu, S. Guo, G. Fang, X. Zhou, J. Zhang, K. Xu, J. Zeng, L. Niu, The effects of irreversible electroporation on the colon in a porcine model, PLoS ONE 11 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167275 e0167275.
- [149] W. Zhang, W. Chai, J. Zeng, J. Chen, L. Bi, L. Niu, Irreversible electroporation for the treatment of rabbit VX2 breast cancer, Biomed. Microdevices. 19 (2017) 29, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10544-017-0173-4.
- [150] A. Sugrue, V. Vaidya, C. Witt, C.V. DeSimone, O. Yasin, E. Maor, A.M. Killu, S. Kapa, C.J. McLeod, D. Miklavčič, S.J. Asirvatham, Irreversible electroporation for catheter-based cardiac ablation: a systematic review of the preclinical experience, J. Interv. Card Electrophysiol. 55 (2019) 251–265, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10840-019-00574-3.
- [151] A. Horn, J.K. Jaiswal, Cellular mechanisms and signals that coordinate plasma membrane repair, Cell Mol. Life Sci. 75 (2018) 3751–3770, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00018-018-2888-7.
- [152] M. Corrotte, T. Castro-Gomes, Chapter One Lysosomes and plasma membrane repair, in: L.O. Andrade (Ed.), Current Topics in Membranes, Academic Press, 2019, pp. 1–16, https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ctm.2019.08.001.
- [153] S.T. Cooper, P.L. McNeil, Membrane Repair: Mechanisms and Pathophysiology, Physiol. Rev. 95 (2015) 1205–1240, https://doi.org/ 10.1152/physrev.00037.2014.
- [154] A.J. Jimenez, F. Perez, Plasma membrane repair: the adaptable cell lifeinsurance, Curr Opin Cell Biol. 47 (2017) 99–107, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ceb.2017.03.011.
- [155] N.W. Andrews, M. Corrotte, Plasma membrane repair, Curr. Biol. 28 (2018) R392-R397, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.12.034.
- [156] A.D. Blazek, B.J. Paleo, N. Weisleder, Plasma Membrane Repair: A Central Process for Maintaining Cellular Homeostasis, Physiol. (Bethesda). 30 (2015) 438-448, https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00019.2015.
- [157] A.J. Jimenez, F. Perez, Physico-chemical and biological considerations for membrane wound evolution and repair in animal cells, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 45 (2015) 2–9, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.09.023.
- [158] A. Reddy, E.V. Caler, N.W. Andrews, Plasma membrane repair is mediated by Ca2+-regulated exocytosis of lysosomes, Cell 106 (2001) 157–169, https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00421-4.
- [159] K. Kinosita, T.Y. Tsong, Formation and resealing of pores of controlled sizes in human erythrocyte membrane, Nature 268 (1977) 438-441, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/268438a0.
- [160] G. Saulis, The loading of human erythrocytes with small molecules by electroporation, Cell Mol. Biol. Lett. 10 (2005) 23–35.
- [161] G. Saulis, M.S. Venslauskas, J. Naktinis, Kinetics of pore resealing in cell membranes after electroporation, J. Electroanal. Chem. Interfacial Electrochem. 321 (1991) 1–13, https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0728(91) 85564-6.
- [162] L.V. Chernomordik, S.I. Sukharev, S.V. Popov, V.F. Pastushenko, A.V. Sokirko, I. G. Abidor, Y.A. Chizmadzhev, The electrical breakdown of cell and lipid membranes: the similarity of phenomenologies, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) – Biomembranes. 902 (1987) 360–373, https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0005-2736(87)90204-5.
- [163] Y. Demiryurek, M. Nickaeen, M. Zheng, M. Yu, J.D. Zahn, D.I. Shreiber, H. Lin, J. W. Shan, Transport, resealing, and re-poration dynamics of two-pulse electroporation-mediated molecular delivery, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Biomembranes. 1848 (2015) 1706–1714, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamem.2015.04.007.
- [164] T. Kotnik, P. Kramar, G. Pucihar, D. Miklavcic, M. Tarek, Cell membrane electroporation- Part 1: The phenomenon, IEEE Electr. Insul. Mag. 28 (2012) 14–23, https://doi.org/10.1109/MEI.2012.6268438.
- [165] M. Pavlin, D. Miklavcic, Theoretical and experimental analysis of conductivity, ion diffusion and molecular transport during cell electroporation-relation between short-lived and long-lived pores, Bioelectrochemistry 74 (2008) 38–46, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bioelechem.2008.04.016.
- [166] G. Pucihar, T. Kotnik, D. Miklavčič, J. Teissié, Kinetics of transmembrane transport of small molecules into electropermeabilized cells, Biophys. J. 95 (2008) 2837–2848, https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.108.135541.
- [167] H. He, D.C. Chang, Y.-K. Lee, Nonlinear current response of micro electroporation and resealing dynamics for human cancer cells, Bioelectrochemistry 72 (2008) 161–168, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bioelechem.2008.01.007.
- [168] M. Hibino, H. Itoh, K. Kinosita, Time courses of cell electroporation as revealed by submicrosecond imaging of transmembrane potential, Biophys J. 64 (1993) 1789–1800.

- [169] K. Kinosita, I. Ashikawa, N. Saita, H. Yoshimura, H. Itoh, K. Nagayama, A. Ikegami, Electroporation of cell membrane visualized under a pulsed-laser fluorescence microscope, Biophys. J. 53 (1988) 1015–1019.
- [170] G. Pucihar, T. Kotnik, J. Teissié, D. Miklavcic, Electropermeabilization of dense cell suspensions, Eur. Biophys. J. 36 (2007) 173–185, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00249-006-0115-1.
- [171] M.P. Rols, J. Teissié, Electropermeabilization of mammalian cells to macromolecules: control by pulse duration, Biophys. J. 75 (1998) 1415–1423.
- [172] G. Saulis, R. Saulé, Size of the pores created by an electric pulse: Microsecond vs millisecond pulses, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes. 1818 (2012) 3032–3039, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.06.018.
- [173] A.E. Sowers, Fusion events and nonfusion contents mixing events induced in erythrocyte ghosts by an electric pulse, Biophys. J. 54 (1988) 619–626, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(88)82997-7.
- [174] J.C. Weaver, P.T. Vernier, Pore lifetimes in cell electroporation: Complex dark pores?, ArXiv:1708.07478 [Physics]. (2017). http://arxiv.org/abs/1708.07478 (accessed January 13, 2021).
- [175] R.W. Glaser, S.L. Leikin, L.V. Chernomordik, V.F. Pastushenko, A.I. Sokirko, Reversible electrical breakdown of lipid bilayers: formation and evolution of pores, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes. 940 (1988) 275– 287, https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2736(88)90202-7.
- [176] G. Saulis, Kinetics of pore disappearance in a cell after electroporation, Biomed. Sci. Instrum. 35 (1999) 409–414.
- [177] A.M. Bowman, O.M. Nesin, O.N. Pakhomova, A.G. Pakhomov, Analysis of plasma membrane integrity by fluorescent detection of Tl+ uptake, J. Membrane Biol. 236 (2010) 15–26, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-010-9269-y.
- [178] Z.A. Levine, P.T. Vernier, Life cycle of an electropore: field-dependent and field-independent steps in pore creation and annihilation, J. Membr. Biol. 236 (2010) 27–36, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-010-9277-y.
- [179] F. Ciobanu, M. Golzio, E. Kovacs, J. Teissié, Control by low levels of calcium of mammalian cell membrane electropermeabilization, J. Membrane Biol. 251 (2018) 221–228, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-017-9981-y.
- [180] J. Dermol, O.N. Pakhomova, A.G. Pakhomov, D. Miklavčič, Cell Electrosensitization Exists Only in Certain Electroporation Buffers, PLoS ONE 11 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159434.
- [181] C.S. Djuzenova, U. Zimmermann, H. Frank, V.L. Sukhorukov, E. Richter, G. Fuhr, Effect of medium conductivity and composition on the uptake of propidium iodide into electropermeabilized myeloma cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1284 (1996) 143–152.
- [182] D. Navickaite, P. Ruzgys, V. Novickij, M. Jakutaviciute, M. Maciulevicius, R. Sinceviciute, S. Satkauskas, Extracellular-Ca2+-induced decrease in small molecule electrotransfer efficiency: comparison between microsecond and nanosecond electric pulses, Pharmaceutics. 12 (2020), https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12050422.
- [183] R.R. Swezey, D. Epel, Stable, resealable pores formed in sea urchin eggs by electric discharge (electroporation) permit substrate loading for assay of enzymes in vivo, Cell Regul. 1 (1989) 65–74, https://doi.org/10.1091/ mbc.1.1.65.
- [184] B. Jakstys, M. Jakutaviciute, D. Uzdavinyte, I. Satkauskiene, S. Satkauskas, Correlation between the loss of intracellular molecules and cell viability after cell electroporation, Bioelectrochemistry 135 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2020.107550 107550.
- [185] M.P. Rols, J. Teissie, Modulation of electrically induced permeabilization and fusion of Chinese hamster ovary cells by osmotic pressure, Biochemistry 29 (1990) 4561–4567, https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00471a009.
- [186] R.P. Joshi, K.H. Schoenbach, Electroporation dynamics in biological cells subjected to ultrafast electrical pulses: a numerical simulation study, Phys. Rev. E. 62 (2000) 1025–1033, https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.62.1025.
- [187] S.M. Kennedy, Z. Ji, N.B. Rockweiler, A.R. Hahn, J.H. Booske, S.C. Hagness, The Role of Plasmalemmal-Cortical Anchoring on the Stability of Transmembrane Electropores, IEEE Trans Dielectr Electr Insul. 16 (2009) 1251–1258, https:// doi.org/10.1109/TDEI.2009.5293935.
- [188] D.V. Zhelev, D. Needham, Tension-stabilized pores in giant vesicles: determination of pore size and pore line tension, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1147 (1993) 89–104.
- [189] D.L. Perrier, A. Vahid, V. Kathavi, L. Stam, L. Rems, Y. Mulla, A. Muralidharan, G.H. Koenderink, M.T. Kreutzer, P.E. Boukany, Response of an actin network in vesicles under electric pulses, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 8151, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-019-44613-5.
- [190] H. Krassen, U. Pliquett, E. Neumann, Nonlinear current-voltage relationship of the plasma membrane of single CHO cells, Bioelectrochemistry 70 (2007) 71–77, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2006.03.033.
- [191] A. Hai, M.E. Spira, On-chip electroporation, membrane repair dynamics and transient in-cell recordings by arrays of gold mushroom-shaped microelectrodes, Lab Chip. 12 (2012) 2865–2873, https://doi.org/10.1039/ C2LC40091J.
- [192] C. Huynh, D. Roth, D.M. Ward, J. Kaplan, N.W. Andrews, Defective lysosomal exocytosis and plasma membrane repair in Chediak–Higashi/beige cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 101 (2004) 16795–16800, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0405905101.
- [193] C. Huynh, N.W. Andrews, The small chemical vacuolin-1 alters the morphology of lysosomes without inhibiting Ca2+-regulated exocytosis, EMBO Rep. 6 (2005) 843–847, https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400495.

- [194] A.J. Jimenez, P. Maiuri, J. Lafaurie-Janvore, S. Divoux, M. Piel, F. Perez, ESCRT Machinery Is Required for Plasma Membrane Repair, Science 343 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1247136.
- [195] X. Ding, M.P. Stewart, A. Sharei, J.C. Weaver, R.S. Langer, K.F. Jensen, Highthroughput nuclear delivery and rapid expression of DNA via mechanical and electrical cell-membrane disruption, Nat. Biomed. Eng. 1 (2017) 1–7, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41551-017-0039.
- [196] J.M. la Cour, P. Winding Gojkovic, S.E.B. Ambjørner, J. Bagge, S.M. Jensen, S. Panina, M.W. Berchtold, ALG-2 participates in recovery of cells after plasma membrane damage by electroporation and digitonin treatment, PLoS ONE 13 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204520.
- [197] T. Potočnik, D. Miklavčič, A. Maček Lebar, Effect of electroporation and recovery medium pH on cell membrane permeabilization, cell survival and gene transfer efficiency in vitro, Bioelectrochemistry 130 (2019), https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2019.107342.
- [198] S.K. Frandsen, A.K. McNeil, I. Novak, P.L. McNeil, J. Gehl, Difference in membrane repair capacity between cancer cell lines and a normal cell line, J. Membr. Biol. 249 (2016) 569–576, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-016-9910-5.
- [199] T. Togo, J.M. Alderton, G.Q. Bi, R.A. Steinhardt, The mechanism of facilitated cell membrane resealing, J. Cell Sci. 112 (1999) 719–731.
- [200] O.N. Pakhomova, B.W. Gregory, V.A. Khorokhorina, A.M. Bowman, S. Xiao, A. G. Pakhomov, Electroporation-induced electrosensitization, PLoS ONE 6 (2011), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017100.
- [201] A. Silve, A. Guimerà Brunet, B. Al-Sakere, A. Ivorra, L.M. Mir, Comparison of the effects of the repetition rate between microsecond and nanosecond pulses: Electropermeabilization-induced electro-desensitization?, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects. 1840 (2014) 2139– 2151, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2014.02.011.
- [202] B.L. Ibey, D.G. Mixon, J.A. Payne, A. Bowman, K. Sickendick, G.J. Wilmink, W.P. Roach, A.G. Pakhomov, Plasma membrane permeabilization by trains of ultrashort electric pulses, Bioelectrochemistry 79 (2010) 114–121, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2010.01.001.
- [203] G.L. Thompson, C.C. Roth, D.R. Dalzell, M. Kuipers, B.L. Ibey, Calcium influx affects intracellular transport and membrane repair following nanosecond pulsed electric field exposure, J. Biomed. Opt. 19 (2014), https://doi.org/ 10.1117/1.JBO.19.5.055005 055005.
- [204] G.L. Thompson, H.T. Beier, B.L. Ibey, tracking lysosome migration within chinese hamster ovary (cho) cells following exposure to nanosecond pulsed electric fields, Bioengineering (Basel). 5 (2018), https://doi.org/10.3390/ bioengineering5040103.
- [205] N. Bhutiani, S. Agle, Y. Li, S. Li, R.C.G. Martin, Irreversible electroporation enhances delivery of gemcitabine to pancreatic adenocarcinoma, J. Surg. Oncol. 114 (2016) 181–186, https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.24288.
- [206] K.N. Aycock, R.V. Davalos, Irreversible electroporation: background theory, and review of recent developments in clinical oncology, Bioelectricity. 1 (2019) 214–234, https://doi.org/10.1089/bioe.2019.0029.
- [207] R.E. Neal, J.H. Rossmeisl, V. D'Alfonso, J.L. Robertson, P.A. Garcia, S. Elankumaran, R.V. Davalos, In vitro and numerical support for combinatorial irreversible electroporation and electrochemotherapy glioma treatment, Ann. Biomed. Eng. 42 (2014) 475–487, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-013-0923-2.
- [208] S. Elmore, Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death, Toxicol. Pathol. 35 (2007) 495–516, https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230701320337.
- [209] F. Izzo, F. Ionna, V. Granata, V. Albino, R. Patrone, F. Longo, A. Guida, P. Delrio, D. Rega, D. Scala, R. Pezzuto, R. Fusco, E. Di Bernardo, V. D'Alessio, R. Grassi, D. Contartese, R. Palaia, New deployable expandable electrodes in the electroporation treatment in a pig model: a feasibility and usability preliminary study, Cancers (Basel). 12 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cancers12020515.
- [210] C.R. Tracy, W. Kabbani, J.A. Cadeddu, Irreversible electroporation (IRE): a novel method for renal tissue ablation, BJU Int. 107 (2011) 1982–1987, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09797.x.
- [211] TJ. O'Brien, M. Passeri, M.F. Lorenzo, J.K. Sulzer, W.B. Lyman, J.H. Swet, D. Vrochides, E.H. Baker, D.A. Iannitti, R.V. Davalos, I.H. McKillop, Experimental high-frequency irreversible electroporation using a single-needle delivery approach for nonthermal pancreatic ablation in vivo, J. Vasc. Interv. Radiol. 30 (2019) 854–862.e7, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvir.2019.01.032.
 [212] I.A. Siddiqui, E.L. Latouche, M.R. DeWitt, J.H. Swet, R.C. Kirks, E.H. Baker, D.A.
- [212] I.A. Siddiqui, E.L. Latouche, M.R. DeWitt, J.H. Swet, R.C. Kirks, E.H. Baker, D.A. Iannitti, D. Vrochides, R.V. Davalos, I.H. McKillop, Induction of rapid, reproducible hepatic ablations using next-generation, high frequency irreversible electroporation (H-FIRE) in vivo, HPB (Oxford). 18 (2016) 726– 734, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hpb.2016.06.015.
- [213] D. Miklavčič, D. Šemrov, H. Mekid, L.M. Mir, A validated model of in vivo electric field distribution in tissues for electrochemotherapy and for DNA electrotransfer for gene therapy, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) – General Subjects. 1523 (2000) 73–83, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4165 (00)00101-X.
- [214] O. Tounekti, A. Kenani, N. Foray, S. Orlowski, L.M. Mir, The ratio of single- to double-strand DNA breaks and their absolute values determine cell death pathway, Br. J. Cancer 84 (2001) 1272–1279, https://doi.org/10.1054/ bjoc.2001.1786.
- [215] O. Tounekti, G. Pron, J. Belehradek, L.M. Mir, Bleomycin, an apoptosismimetic drug that induces two types of cell death depending on the number of molecules internalized, Cancer Res. 53 (1993) 5462–5469.

- [216] Y. Lv, Y. Zhang, B. Rubinsky, Molecular and histological study on the effects of electrolytic electroporation on the liver, Bioelectrochemistry 125 (2019) 79– 89, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2018.09.007.
- [217] N. Matsuki, M. Takeda, T. Ishikawa, A. Kinjo, T. Hayasaka, Y. Imai, T. Yamaguchi, Activation of caspases and apoptosis in response to low-voltage electric pulses, Oncol. Rep. 23 (2010) 1425–1433, https://doi.org/10.3892/or_00000780.
- [218] D.M. Cvetković, M.N. Živanović, M.G. Milutinović, T.R. Djukić, M.D. Radović, A. M. Cvetković, N.D. Filipović, N.D. Zdravković, Real-time monitoring of cytotoxic effects of electroporation on breast and colon cancer cell lines, Bioelectrochemistry 113 (2017) 85–94, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bioelechem.2016.10.005.
- [219] K.P. Charpentier, F. Wolf, L. Noble, B. Winn, M. Resnick, D.E. Dupuy, Irreversible electroporation of the pancreas in swine: a pilot study, HPB (Oxford). 12 (2010) 348–351, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-2574.2010.00174.x.
- [220] X. Chen, Z. Ren, T. Zhu, X. Zhang, Z. Peng, H. Xie, L. Zhou, S. Yin, J. Sun, S. Zheng, Electric Ablation with Irreversible Electroporation (IRE) in Vital Hepatic Structures and Follow-up Investigation, Sci. Rep. 5 (2015) 16233, https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16233.
- [221] A. Deodhar, S. Monette, G.W. Single, W.C. Hamilton, R.H. Thornton, C.T. Sofocleous, M. Maybody, S.B. Solomon, Percutaneous irreversible electroporation lung ablation: preliminary results in a porcine model, Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 34 (2011) 1278–1287, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00270-011-0143-9.
- [222] C.R. Schmidt, P. Shires, M. Mootoo, Real-time ultrasound imaging of irreversible electroporation in a porcine liver model adequately characterizes the zone of cellular necrosis, HPB (Oxford). 14 (2012) 98–102, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-2574.2011.00409.x.
- [223] W. van den Bos, R.R. Jurhill, D.M. de Bruin, C.D. Savci-Heijink, A.W. Postema, P.G.K. Wagstaff, B.G. Muller, I.M. Varkarakis, A. Skolarikos, P.J. Zondervan, M. P. Laguna Pes, T.M. de Reijke, J.J.M.C.H. de la Rosette, Histopathological Outcomes after Irreversible Electroporation for Prostate Cancer: Results of an Ablate and Resect Study, J. Urol. 196 (2016) 552–559. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.juro.2016.02.2977.
- [224] R. Nuccitelli, Tissue Ablation Using Nanosecond Electric Pulses, in: D. Miklavčič (Ed.), Handbook of Electroporation, Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2017, pp. 1787–1797, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-32886-7_93.
- [225] S.J. Beebe, X. Chen, J.A. Liu, K.H. Schoenbach, Nanosecond pulsed electric field ablation of hepatocellular carcinoma, in: 2011 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, EMBC, 2011: pp. 6861–6865. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6091692.
- [226] R. Chen, N.M. Sain, K.T. Harlow, Y.-J. Chen, P.K. Shires, R. Heller, S.J. Beebe, A protective effect after clearance of orthotopic rat hepatocellular carcinoma by nanosecond pulsed electric fields, Eur. J. Cancer 50 (2014) 2705–2713, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2014.07.006.
- [227] Y. Mi, C. Yao, C. Li, C. Sun, L. Tang, H. Liu, Apoptosis induction effects of steep pulsed electric fields (SPEF) on human liver cancer cell SMMC-7721 in vitro, IEEE Trns. Dielectr. Electr. Insul. 16 (2009) 1302–1310.
- [228] P.T. Vernier, Y. Sun, M.A. Gundersen, Nanoelectropulse-driven membrane perturbation and small molecule permeabilization, BMC Cell Biol. 7 (2006) 37, https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2121-7-37.
- [229] P.T. Vernier, Y. Sun, L. Marcu, C.M. Craft, M.A. Gundersen, Nanoelectropulseinduced phosphatidylserine translocation, Biophys. J. 86 (2004) 4040–4048, https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.103.037945.
- [230] T. Batista Napotnik, D. Miklavčič, In vitro electroporation detection methods – an overview, Bioelectrochemistry 120 (2018) 166–182, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2017.12.005.
- [231] M.A. Mahlke, G. Thompson, L. Estlack, C. Navara, B.L. Ibey, Effects of nanosecond electrical pulses (nsPEFs) on cell cycle progression and susceptibility at various phases, in: G.J. Wilmink, B.L. Ibey (Eds.), Proc. SPIE 8585, Terahertz and Ultrashort Electromagnetic Pulses for Biomedical Applications, (2013) p. 858500. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2020679.
- [232] S. Nowsheen, E.S. Yang, The intersection between DNA damage response and cell death pathways, Exp. Oncol. 34 (2012) 243–254.
- [233] D. Miklavčič, B. Mali, B. Kos, R. Heller, G. Serša, Electrochemotherapy: from the drawing board into medical practice, Biomed. Eng. Online. 13 (2014) 29, https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-925X-13-29.
- [234] G. Sersa, M. Bosnjak, M. Cemazar, R. Heller, Preclinical Studies on Electrochemotherapy, in: D. Miklavcic (Ed.), Handbook of Electroporation, Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2016, pp. 1–15, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-319-26779-1_45-1.
- [235] L. Bigi, G. Galdo, A.M. Cesinaro, C. Vaschieri, A. Marconi, C. Pincelli, F. Fantini, Electrochemotherapy induces apoptotic death in melanoma metastases: a histologic and immunohistochemical investigation, Clin. Cosmet. Investig. Dermatol. 9 (2016) 451–459, https://doi.org/10.2147/CCID.S115984.
- [236] O. Tounekti, J. Belehradek, L.M. Mir, Relationships between DNA fragmentation, chromatin condensation, and changes in flow cytometry profiles detected during apoptosis, Exp. Cell Res. 217 (1995) 506–516, https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.1995.1116.
- [237] P. Fernandes, T.R. O'Donovan, S.L. McKenna, P.F. Forde, Electrochemotherapy Causes Caspase-Independent Necrotic-Like Death in Pancreatic Cancer Cells, Cancers (Basel). 11 (2019), https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11081177.

- [238] H. Mekid, O. Tounekti, A. Spatz, M. Cemazar, F.Z. El Kebir, L.M. Mir, In vivo evolution of tumour cells after the generation of double-strand DNA breaks, Br. J. Cancer 88 (2003) 1763–1771, https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6600959.
- [239] E. Cohen-Jonathan, E.J. Bernhard, W.G. McKenna, How does radiation kill cells?, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 3 (1999) 77–83, https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1367-5931(99)80014-3.
- [240] J.G. Nirmala, M. Lopus, Cell death mechanisms in eukaryotes, Cell Biol Toxicol. 36 (2020) 145–164, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10565-019-09496-2.
- [241] S.Y. Proskuryakov, A.G. Konoplyannikov, V.L. Gabai, Necrosis: a specific form of programmed cell death?, Exp. Cell Res. 283 (2003) 1–16, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0014-4827(02)00027-7.
- [242] N. Festjens, T. Vanden Berghe, P. Vandenabeele, Necrosis, a well-orchestrated form of cell demise: Signalling cascades, important mediators and concomitant immune response, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -, Bioenergetics. 1757 (2006) 1371–1387, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbabio.2006.06.014.
- [243] T. Qian, B. Herman, J.J. Lemasters, The Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Mediates Both Necrotic and Apoptotic Death of Hepatocytes Exposed to Br-A23187, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 154 (1999) 117–125, https://doi.org/ 10.1006/taap.1998.8580.
- [244] E.L. Latouche, C.B. Arena, J.W. Ivey, P.A. Garcia, T.E. Pancotto, N. Pavlisko, S.S. Verbridge, R.V. Davalos, J.H. Rossmeisl, High-Frequency Irreversible Electroporation for Intracranial Meningioma: A Feasibility Study in a Spontaneous Canine Tumor Model, Technol Cancer Res Treat. 17 (2018) 1533033818785285. https://doi.org/10.1177/1533033818785285.
- [245] J. Zmuc, G. Gasljevic, G. Sersa, I. Edhemovic, N. Boc, A. Seliskar, T. Plavec, M. Brloznik, N. Milevoj, E. Brecelj, B. Kos, J. Izlakar, T. Jarm, M. Snoj, M. Stukelj, D. Miklavcic, M. Cemazar, Large Liver Blood Vessels and Bile Ducts Are Not Damaged by Electrochemotherapy with Bleomycin in Pigs, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 3649, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40395-y.
- [246] A. Rossi, O.N. Pakhomova, A.G. Pakhomov, S. Weygandt, A.A. Bulysheva, L.E. Murray, P.A. Mollica, C. Muratori, Mechanisms and immunogenicity of nsPEFinduced cell death in B16F10 melanoma tumors, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 431, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-36527-5.
- [247] C. Yao, Y. Mi, X. Hu, C. Li, C. Sun, J. Tang, Xiaojuan Wu, Experiment and mechanism research of SKOV3 cancer cell apoptosis induced by nanosecond pulsed electric field, in: 30th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2008. EMBS 2008, 2008: pp. 1044–1047. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEMBS.2008.4649338.
- [248] J. Lavee, G. Onik, P. Mikus, B. Rubinsky, A novel nonthermal energy source for surgical epicardial atrial ablation: irreversible electroporation, Heart Surg. Forum. 10 (2007) E162–E167, https://doi.org/10.1532/HSF98.20061202.
- [249] V. Novickij, R. Česna, E. Perminaité, A. Zinkevičienė, D. Characiejus, J. Novickij, S. Šatkauskas, P. Ruzgys, I. Girkontaitė, Antitumor Response and Immunomodulatory Effects of Sub-Microsecond Irreversible Electroporation and Its Combination with Calcium Electroporation, Cancers (Basel). 11 (2019), https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers1111763.
- [250] E.M. Wasson, N. Alinezhadbalalami, R.M. Brock, I.C. Allen, S.S. Verbridge, R.V. Davalos, Understanding the role of calcium-mediated cell death in highfrequency irreversible electroporation, Bioelectrochemistry 131 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2019.107369 107369.
- [251] A. Szewczyk, J. Gehl, M. Daczewska, J. Saczko, S.K. Frandsen, J. Kulbacka, Calcium electroporation for treatment of sarcoma in preclinical studies, Oncotarget. 9 (2018) 11604–11618. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.24352.
- [252] A. Zielichowska, M. Daczewska, J. Saczko, O. Michel, J. Kulbacka, Applications of calcium electroporation to effective apoptosis induction in fibrosarcoma cells and stimulation of normal muscle cells, Bioelectrochemistry 109 (2016) 70–78, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2016.01.005.
- [253] S.K. Frandsen, M.B. Krüger, U.M. Mangalanathan, T. Tramm, F. Mahmood, I. Novak, J. Gehl, Normal and malignant cells exhibit differential responses to calcium electroporation, Cancer Res. 77 (2017) 4389–4401, https://doi.org/ 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1611.
- [254] S.K. Frandsen, L. Gibot, M. Madi, J. Gehl, M.-P. Rols, Calcium electroporation: evidence for differential effects in normal and malignant cell lines, evaluated in a 3D spheroid model, PLoS ONE 10 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0144028 e0144028.
- [255] A.D. Garg, A.M. Dudek-Peric, E. Romano, P. Agostinis, Immunogenic cell death, Int. J. Dev. Biol. 59 (2015) 131–140, https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.150061pa.
 [256] C. He, X. Huang, Y. Zhang, X. Lin, S. Li, T-cell activation and immune memory
- [256] C. He, X. Huang, Y. Zhang, X. Lin, S. Li, T-cell activation and immune memory enhancement induced by irreversible electroporation in pancreatic cancer, Clin. Transl. Med. 10 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1002/ctm2.39.
- [257] H. Pandit, Y.K. Hong, Y. Li, J. Rostas, Z. Pulliam, S.P. Li, R.C.G. Martin, Evaluating the Regulatory Immunomodulation Effect of Irreversible Electroporation (IRE) in Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma, Ann. Surg. Oncol. 26 (2019) 800–806, https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-018-07144-3.
- [258] H.J. Scheffer, A.G.M. Stam, B. Geboers, L.G.P.H. Vroomen, A. Ruarus, B. de Bruijn, M.P. van den Tol, G. Kazemier, M.R. Meijerink, T.D. de Gruijl, Irreversible electroporation of locally advanced pancreatic cancer transiently alleviates immune suppression and creates a window for antitumor T cell activation, Oncolmmunology. 8 (2019) 1652532, https:// doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2019.1652532.
- [259] J.A. Vogel, E. van Veldhuisen, L.K. Alles, O.R. Busch, F. Dijk, T.M. van Gulik, G. M. Huijzer, M.G. Besselink, K.P. van Lienden, J. Verheij, Time-Dependent Impact of Irreversible Electroporation on Pathology and Ablation Size in the

Porcine Liver: A 24-Hour Experimental Study, Technol. Cancer Res. Treat. 18 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1177/1533033819876899.

- [260] S.B. White, Z. Zhang, J. Chen, V.R. Gogineni, A.C. Larson, Early Immunologic Response of Irreversible Electroporation versus Cryoablation in a Rodent Model of Pancreatic Cancer, J. Vasc. Interv. Radiol. 29 (2018) 1764–1769, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvir.2018.07.009.
- [261] H. Falk, S. Lambaa, H.H. Johannesen, G. Wooler, A. Venzo, J. Gehl, Electrochemotherapy and calcium electroporation inducing a systemic immune response with local and distant remission of tumors in a patient with malignant melanoma – a case report, Acta Oncol. 56 (2017) 1126–1131, https://doi.org/10.1080/0284186X.2017.1290274.
- [262] G. Serša, D. Miklavčič, M. Čemažar, J. Belehradek, T. Jarm, L.M. Mir, Electrochemotherapy with CDDP on LPB sarcoma: comparison of the antitumor effectiveness in immunocompotent and immunodeficient mice, Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg. 43 (1997) 279–283, https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0302-4598(96)05194-X.
- [263] X. Chen, S. Yin, C. Hu, X. Chen, K. Jiang, S. Ye, X. Feng, S. Fan, H. Xie, L. Zhou, S. Zheng, Comparative study of nanosecond electric fields in vitro and in vivo on hepatocellular carcinoma indicate macrophage infiltration contribute to tumor ablation In Vivo, PLoS ONE 9 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0086421 e86421.
- [264] R. Nuccitelli, J.C. Berridge, Z. Mallon, M. Kreis, B. Athos, P. Nuccitelli, Nanoelectroablation of murine tumors triggers a CD8-dependent inhibition of secondary tumor growth, PLoS ONE 10 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0134364 e0134364.
- [265] R. Nuccitelli, K. Tran, K. Lui, J. Huynh, B. Athos, M. Kreis, P. Nuccitelli, E.C. De Fabo, Non-thermal nanoelectroablation of UV-induced murine melanomas stimulates an immune response, Pigm. Cell Melanoma Res. 25 (2012) 618– 629, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2012.01027.x.
- [266] J.G. Skeate, D.M.D. Silva, E. Chavez-Juan, S. Anand, R. Nuccitelli, W.M. Kast, Nano-Pulse Stimulation induces immunogenic cell death in human papillomavirus-transformed tumors and initiates an adaptive immune response, PLoS ONE 13 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0191311 e0191311.
- [267] S. Guo, N.I. Burcus, J. Hornef, Y. Jing, C. Jiang, R. Heller, S.J. Beebe, Nano-Pulse Stimulation for the Treatment of Pancreatic Cancer and the Changes in Immune Profile, Cancers (Basel). 10 (2018), https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cancers10070217.
- [268] P. Philips, Y. Li, S. Li, C.R. St Hill, R.C. Martin, Efficacy of irreversible electroporation in human pancreatic adenocarcinoma: advanced murine model, Mol. Ther. Methods Clin. Dev. 2 (2015) 15001, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/mtm.2015.1.
- [269] L. Adam, N. Tchitchek, B. Todorova, P. Rosenbaum, C. Joly, C. Poux, C. Chapon, A.-L. Spetz, M. Ustav, R. Le Grand, F. Martinon, Innate molecular and cellular signature in the skin preceding long-lasting T Cell responses after electroporated DNA vaccination, J. Immunol. 204 (2020) 3375–3388, https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1900517.
- [270] A.I. Daud, R.C. DeConti, S. Andrews, P. Urbas, A.I. Riker, V.K. Sondak, P.N. Munster, D.M. Sullivan, K.E. Ugen, J.L. Messina, R. Heller, Phase I trial of interleukin-12 plasmid electroporation in patients with metastatic melanoma, J. Clin. Oncol. 26 (2008) 5896–5903, https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2007.15.6794.
- [271] S. Li, X. Zhang, X. Xia, Regression of Tumor Growth and Induction of Long-Term Antitumor Memory by Interleukin 12 Electro-Gene Therapy, JNCI J. National Cancer Inst. 94 (2002) 762–768, https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/ 94.10.762.
- [272] M.L. Lucas, R. Heller, IL-12 gene therapy using an electrically mediated nonviral approach reduces metastatic growth of melanoma, DNA Cell Biol. 22 (2003) 755–763, https://doi.org/10.1089/104454903322624966.

- [273] D. Pavlin, M. Cemazar, U. Kamensek, N. Tozon, A. Pogacnik, G. Sersa, Local and systemic antitumor effect of intratumoral and peritumoral IL-12 electrogene therapy on murine sarcoma, Cancer Biol. Ther. 8 (2009) 2114–2122, https:// doi.org/10.4161/cbt.8.22.9734.
- [274] M. Cemazar, J.A. Avgustin, D. Pavlin, G. Sersa, A. Poli, A.K. Levacic, N. Tesic, U.L. Tratar, M. Rak, N. Tozon, Efficacy and safety of electrochemotherapy combined with peritumoral IL-12 gene electrotransfer of canine mast cell tumours, Veter. Comp. Oncol. 15 (2017) 641–654, https://doi.org/10.1111/ vco.12208.
- [275] G. Sersa, J. Teissie, M. Cemazar, E. Signori, U. Kamensek, G. Marshall, D. Miklavcic, Electrochemotherapy of tumors as in situ vaccination boosted by immunogene electrotransfer, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 64 (2015) 1315–1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-015-1724-2.
- [276] C.Y. Calvet, L.M. Mir, The promising alliance of anti-cancer electrochemotherapy with immunotherapy, Cancer Metastasis Rev. 35 (2016) 165–177, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-016-9615-3.
- [277] N. Bessis, F.J. GarciaCozar, M.-C. Boissier, Immune responses to gene therapy vectors: influence on vector function and effector mechanisms, Gene Ther. 11 (2004) S10–S17, https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3302364.
- [278] J.L. Shirley, Y.P. de Jong, C. Terhorst, R.W. Herzog, Immune Responses to Viral Gene Therapy Vectors, Mol. Therapy. 28 (2020) 709–722, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.01.001.
- [279] V.M. Stoecklein, A. Osuka, J.A. Lederer, Trauma equals danger-damage control by the immune system, J. Leukocyte Biol. 92 (2012) 539–551, https:// doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0212072.
- [280] C. Brenner, L. Galluzzi, O. Kepp, G. Kroemer, Decoding cell death signals in liver inflammation, J. Hepatol. 59 (2013) 583–594, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2013.03.033.
- [281] D. Frank, J.E. Vince, Pyroptosis versus necroptosis: similarities, differences, and crosstalk, Cell Death Differ. 26 (2019) 99–114, https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41418-018-0212-6.
- [282] H. Flores-Romero, U. Ros, A.J. Garcia-Saez, Pore formation in regulated cell death, The EMBO J. 39 (2020) e105753. https://doi.org/10.15252/ embj.2020105753.
- [283] S.M. Man, R. Karki, T.-D. Kanneganti, Molecular mechanisms and functions of pyroptosis, inflammatory caspases and inflammasomes in infectious diseases, Immunol. Rev. 277 (2017) 61–75, https://doi.org/10.1111/ imr.12534.
- [284] X. Chen, W. He, L. Hu, J. Li, Y. Fang, X. Wang, X. Xu, Z. Wang, K. Huang, J. Han, Pyroptosis is driven by non-selective gasdermin-D pore and its morphology is different from MLKL channel-mediated necroptosis, Cell Res. 26 (2016) 1007–1020, https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.100.
- [285] B. Nikolova, S. Semkova, I. Tsoneva, E. Stoyanova, P. Lefterov, D. Lazarova, Z. Zhelev, I. Aoki, T. Higashi, R. Bakalova, Redox-related Molecular Mechanism of Sensitizing Colon Cancer Cells to Camptothecin Analog SN38, Anticancer Res. 40 (2020) 5159–5170. https://doi.org/10.21873/anticanres.14519.
- [286] M.L. Albert, S.F. Pearce, L.M. Francisco, B. Sauter, P. Roy, R.L. Silverstein, N. Bhardwaj, Immature dendritic cells phagocytose apoptotic cells via alphavbeta5 and CD36, and cross-present antigens to cytotoxic T lymphocytes, J. Exp. Med. 188 (1998) 1359–1368, https://doi.org/ 10.1084/jem.188.7.1359.
- [287] N.E. Blachère, R.B. Darnell, M.L. Albert, Apoptotic Cells Deliver Processed Antigen to Dendritic Cells for Cross-Presentation, PLoS Biol. 3 (2005), https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0030185 e185.
- [288] J. Savill, I. Dransfield, C. Gregory, C. Haslett, A blast from the past: clearance of apoptotic cells regulates immune responses, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2 (2002) 965–975, https://doi.org/10.1038/nri957.